ADA RIFE CONTROL OF THE PARTY O

THE DOMINION OF CANADA RIFLE ASSOCIATION

45 Shirley Boulevard Ottawa, ON K2K 2W6 Telephone: 613-829-8281

E-mail: office@dcra.ca Website: www.dcra150.ca

PRESIDENT'S WELCOME

I would like to take this opportunity to welcome you to this year's 135th Annual Canadian Championship. Since our establishment in 1868 the DCRA has been proud to promote full-bore marksmanship within Canada. Once again, this year, it is a great pleasure to have not only competitors from Canada but from around the world. We look forward to your participation in our matches and wish you every success and enjoyment while using our historic Connaught Ranges. A special welcome is also extended to the junior shooters who will be taking part in this year's Championship. I wish you well and hope that this is the beginning of a long association with our sport.

A great deal of effort and support by many individuals and organizations has taken place to ensure the staging of this event. My thanks are extended to the Department of National Defence, the Commandant and staff of Connaught Range, and the Commanding Officer and staff of the Connaught Army Cadet Camp for their support of our program. Further, my sincerest appreciation is extended to the Programme Chairman, Mr. Daniel Chisholm, the DCRA staff, and the numerous volunteers who have made this event possible.

Lastly, I do hope you enjoy the comradeship and friendly competition which are the hallmark of our Full-bore Championships. Everyone involved with this event will certainly do everything possible to assist you and to make your stay a pleasant and memorable experience here in the Ottawa area. Best wishes for safe travel, good sportsmanship, good comradeship, and good shooting! I look forward to seeing you.

Matthew Overton

Brigadier-General (Retired)

President, Dominion of Canada Rifle Association

Table of Contents

TARGET RIFLE and F-CLASS MATCHES	6
DAILY SCHEDULE	6
INDIVIDUAL MATCHES and AGGREGATES	9
The Canadian .223/5.56 Championship (#606)	9
The Aggregate for the 21st Century (#699)	9
The Alexander of Tunis (#601)	10
The All-Comers Aggregate (#602)	10
The Army and Navy Veterans (#603)	11
The Bisley Qualifier (#742)	11
The Brewers Association of Canada Aggregate for Newcomers (#648)	11
The Cadet Bisley Aggregate (#649)	11
The Cadet/Junior Open Short Range Aggregate (#650)	12
The Cadet/Junior Open TR Championship (#651)	12
Cadet Medal for Champion Shot (John A. Stacenko Award)	13
The Canadian Cadet TR Championship (#652)	13
The Canadian Forces Target Rifle Championship (#608)	13
The Canadian Masters Championship (#609)	14
The Canadian Target Rifle Championship (#611)	15
The Champlain Aggregate (#612)	16
The Major Colin M. Brown Prize (#730)	16
The Colonel John C. Brick (#614)	16
The Connaught Aggregate (#698)	17
The Coulter (#680)	17
The Des Burke Award (#615)	17
The Dick Hampton Aggregate (#713)	18
The Gatineau (#617)	19
The Gibson (#618)	19
The Gil Boa Aggregate (#726)	19
The Gooderham (#620)	20
Governor General's Qualifier (#621)	20
Her Excellency, The Governor-General's Prize (#622)	21
The Gzowski Aggregate (#623)	21
The Harrison (#681)	22

	The Hayhurst (#624)	22
	The Jack Gorrie Aggregate (#712)	23
	The Imperial Cadet Cup	23
	The Klondike Aggregate (#625)	24
	The Letson (#626)	24
	The Macdonald Stewart Grand Aggregate (#628)	24
	The MacDougall (#630)	26
	The Maple Leaf Aggregate (#631)	26
	The McCulloch Trophy (#632)	27
	The LGen W.A. Milroy Aggregate (#728)	27
	The Norman Beckett (#613)	28
	The Ottawa Regiment (#633)	28
	The Otter (#682)	29
	The Patron's (#634)	29
	The S.J. Perry (#635)	30
	The Polar Bear Aggregate (#636)	30
	The President's (#637)	31
	The Russell G. Potter Memorial (#638)	31
	The Short-Range Aggregate (#639)	31
	The (TR) Sierra Canadian Long Range Challenge (#627)	32
	The Street (#641)	33
	The Tilton (#645)	33
	The Viscount Wakefield Cadet Aggregate	33
	The M.F.C. Walker Aggregate (#727)	34
	Information for Team Captains	35
	International (Overseas) Teams and Visitors from outside Canada	36
	Official Provincial Teams	37
	Procedure for Team Captains	37
11	NTERNATIONAL TEAM MATCHES	38
	The International Palma Match	38
	The America Match (#750)	38
	The Canada Match (#656)	41
	The Commonwealth Match (#657)	42
	The Outlander (#658)	43

The Under 25 International Long Range Team Match (#659)	44
The Under 25 International Short Range Team Match (#660)	44
RIFLE TEAMS	45
Canadian Rifle Team to Bisley	45
The Royal Canadian Army Cadet National Rifle Team to Bisley	48
INTERPROVINCIAL TEAM MATCHES	49
The London Merchants (#666)	49
CONCURRENT INTERPROVINCIAL TEAM MATCHES	50
The All-Comers Aggregate (Team) (#661)	50
The Coates (#663)	50
The Ladies' Pairs (#665)	51
The Macdonald Stewart Aggregate (Team) (#667)	51
The Steinhardt (#669)	51
The Veterans (Team) (#670)	52
INTER-UNIT / UNIT RIFLE ASSOCIATION / CLUB / CADET TEAM MATCHES	53
The Algonquin (#671)	54
The Aylmer Gard (#672)	55
The Gillespie (#674)	55
The Gordon Highlanders (#675)	55
The Imperial Tobacco (#676)	56
The Lansdowne (#653)	56
The Mayor of Bagshot's Vase (#691)	57
The Victoria Rifles of Canada (#679)	58
CADET TEAM MATCHES	59
The Buell	59
The CANLOAN International Cadet Teams Match	59
The Michael Faraday Imperial Cadet Match (#685)	60
The Rex Goddard	61
The United Empire (#687)	62
The Coaches Match (#702)	63
The Families (#688)	63
The Champion Pairs (#689)	64
The Senior – Under 25 Pairs (#690)	
ANNEX A	65

Tie Shoots	65
Prizes	65
Challenge Trophies and Special Souvenir Awards	65
Medallion Awards	65
Medallions Colours and Bars	66
Multiple Winners	66
Distribution	66
Cash Prizes	67
Team Awards	68
HPS Awards	68
ANNEX B	69
DOMINION OF CANADA RIFLE ASSOCIATION GOVERNING BODIES	69
LIFE GOVERNORS (in order of seniority)	70
DCRA COUNCIL/EXECUTIVE MEMBERS	70
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 2018 – 2019	72
NOTICE OF MEETINGS	73
GENERAL INFORMATION	74
LOCATION AND LAYOUT OF CONNAUGHT RANGES	74
CONNAUGHT RANGE ORDERS	74
MATCH COORDINATORS	75
NOTICE BOARDS	75
EQUIPMENT INSPECTION	75
SAFETY	76
RIFLE AND AMMUNITION SECURITY	76
RANGE COORDINATION	76
PRIZE PRESENTATIONS	76
SOCIAL EVENTS	77
GROUP PHOTOGRAPH	77
ACCOMMODATIONS	77
CAMPING/ HOTELS	77
FOOD SERVICE	
ALCOHOL	78
MEDICAL	78
HOUSEKEEPING AND CLEANLINESS	78

FIRE HAZARDS	79
TELEPHONES & WIFI	79
TRAFFIC REGULATIONS AND PARKING	79
SILENT HOURS POLICY	80
PETS	80
EMERGENCY CONTACT	80

TARGET RIFLE and F-CLASS MATCHES

With the introduction in 2012 of the three-day Canadian F-Class National Championship, the Macdonald Stewart Grand Aggregate is no longer the premier Canadian F-Class shooting event, however F-Class entries will continue to be accepted. F-Class competitors will be squadded amongst the TR shooters, fire on the TR targets, and be scored 5-V according to the TR scoring rings and shoot for honours only.

Single Match Entries: Space permitting, individuals may enter single matches upon payment of an appropriate fee. Details on the number of spaces available, cost and times when entries can be made are available through the DCRA office.

DAILY SCHEDULE

2018 CANADIAN FULLBORE RIFLE CHAMPIONSHIP TR EVENTS

Rounds	Rounds Distance Match			
Friday, 17 August 2018 - Evening				
2 & 15	'C' - 800 m	TR Ottawa Regiment		
DCRA	\ Marquee	150 th Anniversary Meet & Greet		
	Saturday, 18 August 2018 - AM			
2 & 10	'A' - 500 y	Gooderham		
2 & 10	'A' - 600 y	Gooderham		
Saturday, 18 August 2018 – PM				
2 & 15	'C' – 800 m	TR Sierra LR Challenge-3		
2 & 15	'C' – 900 m	TR Army & Navy Veterans		
Saturday, 18 August 2018 – Evening				
DCRA Cor	DCRA Conference Room Executive meeting @ 1830			
Sunday, 19 August 2018 – AM				
2 & 10	'A' - 600 y	Tilton		
2 & 10	'D' - 300 m	Tilton		

Sunday, 19 August 2018 – PM				
2 & 10	'A' – 500 y	MacDougall		
2 & 10	2 & 10 'D' – 300 m MacDougall			
Sunday, 19 August 2018 – Evening				
DCRA Conference Room Semi Annual General Meeting @ 1900				
Council Meeting @ 2000				

Monday, 20 August 2018 – AM					
2 & 10	'A' - 500 y	Col John Brick			
2 & 10	2 & 10 'D' - 300 m Norman Beckett				
	N	londay, 20 August 2018 – PM			
2 & 10	'A' - 600 y	Col John Brick			
2 & 10	'C' - 800 m	Norman Beckett			
	T	uesday, 21 August 2018 – AM			
2 & 7	'A' – 500 y	Letson			
2 & 7	'D' – 300 m	Letson			
	Т	uesday, 21 August 2018 – PM			
2 & 7	'A' – 600 y	Letson			
2 & 10	'C' – 900 m	Coaches Team Match			
2 & 10	'C' – 900 m	Alexander of Tunis			
	We	dnesday, 22 August 2018 – AM			
2 & 10	'A' – 500 y	President's			
2 & 10	'D' – 300 m	President's			
	We	dnesday, 22 August 2018 – PM			
2 & 10	'A' – 600 y	President's			
2 & 10	'C' – 800 m	Gibson			
	Th	nursday, 23 August 2018 – AM			
2 & 10	'A' – 600 y	Gibson			
2 & 10	'D' – 300 m	Gibson			
	Tł	nursday, 23 August 2018 – PM			
2 & 15	'C' – 900 m	Outlander Team Match			
2 & 15	'C' – 900 m	London Merchants Team Match			
2 & 15	'C' – 900 m	Street			
2 & 15	'C' – 700 m	Street			
2 & 15	2 & 15 'C' – 800 m Street				
2 & 7	'A' – 300 y	Michael Faraday			
2 & 7	'A' – 500 y	Michael Faraday			
2 & 7	'A' – 600 y	Michael Faraday			
2 & 15					
2 & 15	'A' – 600 y	Provincial Team Match			

Friday, 24 August 2018 – AM					
2 & 15					
	'C' – 900 m Grand Agg Tie Shoot (if req)				
	Friday, 24 August 2018 – PM				
2 & 10	'A' - 300 y	Canada, U-25 SR, & Lansdowne			
2 & 10	'A' - 500 y	Canada, U-25 SR, & Lansdowne			
2 & 10	'A' - 600 y	Canada, U-25 SR, & Lansdowne			
2 & 10	'A' - 300 y	Hayhurst			
2 & 10	'A' - 500 y	Hayhurst			
2 & 10	'A' - 600 y	Hayhurst			
	Sa	aturday, 25 August 2018 – AM			
2 & 10	'C' – 800 m	Commonwealth, U25 LR & Algonquin			
2 & 10	'C' – 900 m	Commonwealth, U25 LR & Algonquin			
2 & 15	, , , ,				
2 & 15					
	Saturday, 25 August 2018 – PM				
Balco	Balcony, 13:00 TR Gov Gen Finalists' Photo				
	'C' – 800 m	Rifle & Ammo Check for GG Final			
2 & 15	'C' – 800 m	Bisley Qualifier			
2 & 15	'C' – 900 m	Bisley Qualifier			
2 & 15	'C' – 800 m	Patron's (GG Final)			
2 & 15	'C' – 900 m	Patron's (GG Final)			
	'C' – 900 m	GG Tie Shoot (if req)			
	'C' – 900 m	Chairing the Winner			
DCRA	DCRA Marquee Prize Presentation Ceremony & Closing Reception				
Sunday, 26 August 2018 – AM					
2 & 15	'A' – 300 y	America Match			
2 & 15	'A' – 600 y	America Match			
Sunday, 26 August 2018 – PM					
2 & 15	'C' – 800 m	America Match			
2 & 15	'C' – 900 m	America Match			

INDIVIDUAL MATCHES and AGGREGATES

The Canadian .223/5.56 Championship (#606)

(1st Friday PM, 1st Saturday AM)

The Championship is fired over five ranges: 800 m (1st Friday evening), 500 y and 600 y (1st Saturday AM), 800m and 900m (1st Saturday PM).

Note: Friday evening, fired concurrently with Ottawa Regiment; Saturday AM, fired concurrently with Gooderham; Saturday PM fired concurrently with Sierra LR / Army & Navy Veterans. Please refer to the entry form.

Time Limits: 45 or 60 second per shot rules applies dependent on squadding.

Ammunition: Only rifles chambered for cal .223 Rem may be used.

Prizes:

1st place The Cheylesmore Memorial Cup, reactivated in 1996 for

individual competition in the Canadian .223/.556 Championship; a **DCRA Gold Medal** will be awarded if entries

permit.

Other prizes: If the entry is five or more, a silver medal will be awarded to

the second-place shooter.

The Aggregate for the 21st Century (#699)

The **Aggregate** of the scores in the: Champlain Aggregate, the Macdonald Stewart Grand Aggregate, and the Governor General's Final.

Prizes:

1st place - **The Bostock Trophy** and DCRA Gold Medal. A Challenge Cup presented by the late Hon. Hewitt Bostock in memory of his son, Lieutenant Alexander Hewitt Bostock, Lord Strathcona's Horse, who was killed in action while serving with the 4th CMR in France, awarded to the top shooter. DCRA Gold Medal.

2nd place - DCRA Silver Medal 3rd place - DCRA Bronze Medal

Top Expert Class -DCRA Silver Medal

Top Sharpshooter Class - DCRA Silver Medal

Top Greenshot Class - DCRA Silver Medal

The Alexander of Tunis (#601)

(1st Tuesday PM)

In recognition of the valuable services of the late Field Marshal The Right Honourable the Earl Alexander of Tunis, KG, GCB, GCMG, CSI, DSO, MC, LLD, Governor General of Canada from 1946 to 1952, as Patron of the Dominion of Canada Rifle Association.

Distance: 900m **Rounds**: 10

Prizes: 1st - The CP Air Trophy. A Challenge Trophy (a carved wooden replica of

a Canada Goose) presented by CP Air in 1982.

Medallions (see Annex A)

The All-Comers Aggregate (#602)

(Short and mid-range aggregate)

Cash prizes donated by the Bank of Montreal.

Open Prizes: regardless of Classification:

1st place - The Patterson Challenge Cup, presented by the late Hon.

J.C. Patterson, PC, formerly Minister of Militia, DCRA Gold

Medal and \$150

2nd place - DCRA Silver Medal and \$100

3rd place - DCRA Bronze Medal and \$50

Medallions (see Annex A)

Matches in The All-Comers Aggregate				
Match	Code	Rounds	Distances	
The Macdougall	(#630)	2 x 10	300m & 500y	
Colonel John C. Brick	(#614)	2 x 10	500y & 600y	
Norman Beckett	(#613)	10	300m only	
Letson	(#626)	3 x 7	300m, 500y & 600y	
President's	(#637)	3 x 10	300m, 500y & 600y	
Gibson	(#618)	2 x 10	300m & 600y	

The Army and Navy Veterans (#603)

(1st Saturday PM)

Distance: 900m Rounds: 15

Prizes: 1st - The Dominion Command Cup presented by Dominion Command, the

Army and Navy Veterans in Canada.

Medallions (see Annex A)

The Bisley Qualifier (#742)

(2nd Saturday – open to Canadians only)

To allow eligible Canadian shooters to complete the Canadian TR Championship. The number of places will be determined by the total entry and by the markers available. This number and a list of those qualified to shoot will be posted by 1200 hours 2nd Friday, 24th August. Tickets must be picked up between 1600 hours 2nd Friday and 1100 hours 2nd Saturday.

Distance: 800m and 900m **Rounds**: 15 at each distance

Prizes: None awarded

The Brewers Association of Canada Aggregate for Newcomers (#648)

To be awarded to eligible competitors who have made the highest scores in the All-Comers Aggregate.

Open to Canadians who are under 19 on 01 September in the year of competition and classified as Greenshots.

<u>Prizes</u>: 1st place - **Brewers Association Shield,** presented by the Brewers

Association of Canada, and DCRA Gold Medal

2nd place - DCRA Silver Medal 3rd place - DCRA bronze Medal

The Cadet Bisley Aggregate (#649)

Open only to Royal Canadian Army Cadets attending the Army Cadet Fullbore Marksman – Phase 2 Course. The score of the All-Comers Aggregate plus the Hayhurst Match will comprise the Cadet Bisley Aggregate.

This Aggregate is the final shooting stage of the selection process for the Royal Canadian Army Cadet National Rifle Team to be sent to Bisley, England, the following July, to compete in the ISCRM, NRA and Schools' Matches. The earlier shooting stages of the Cadet Bisley selection process include scores made at the PQRA, ORA and National Cadet Fullbore Championship (NCFC) Matches.

The Cadet National Rifle Team is not part of the DCRA Bisley Team, and selection of the team members is made by NDHQ/D Cadets.

Ties will not be shot off; count-back rules will apply.

Prizes:

The Delamere Trophy. A Challenge Trophy presented to the Dominion of Canada Rifle Association in 1962 by the late Colonel J.M. Delamere, MBE, ED, CD, former Director of Militia and Cadets.

Medallions (see Annex A)

Matches in The Cadet Bisley Aggregate			
Match	Code	Rounds	Distances
All Comers Agg	(#601)	131	300m, 500y & 600y
Hayhurst	(#624)	30	300y, 500y & 600y

The Cadet/Junior Open Short Range Aggregate (#650)

(concurrent with the All-Comers Aggregate)

Open to any Cadet or Junior firing Target Rifle.

Prizes:

1st place - **The Woods Trophy.** A Challenge Trophy presented by the late

LCol J.W. Woods in 1912

Medallions (see Annex A)

The Cadet/Junior Open TR Championship (#651)

(concurrent with the Macdonald Stewart Grand Aggregate)

Open to any Cadet or Junior firing Target Rifle.

Prizes: 1st place - DCRA Gold Badge

2nd place - DCRA Silver Badge 3rd place - DCRA Bronze Badge

Cadet Medal for Champion Shot (John A. Stacenko Award)

In honour of the late Warrant Officer John A. Stacenko, a Supply Technician in the CF, and long serving Quartermaster at the Connaught National Army Cadet Summer Training Camp (CNACSTC). Notably, WO Stacenko served as a member of the Canadian Airborne Regiment, as a peacekeeper in the Golan Heights, and with the Ceremonial Guard.

WO Stacenko joined the CNACSTC Supply Section in 1997, quickly earning respect for his hard work and diligent service to the cadet movement. He is specially remembered for support to cadet marksmanship programs.

Awarded to the Canadian Cadets achieving the highest scores in the Macdonald Stewart Grand Aggregate plus the Hayhurst Match.

Prizes: A special **Gold Medal,** and Silver Medal, provided by Justin Schmidt-Clever, a friend of John Stacenko.

Matches in The Cadet Medal for Champion Shot Aggregate			
Match	Code	Rounds	Distances
MS Grand Agg	(#628)	166	all
Hayhurst	(#624)	30	300y, 500y & 600y

The Canadian Cadet TR Championship (#652)

(concurrent with the Macdonald Stewart Grand Aggregate)

Awarded to the top Canadian Cadet, on the current year's FBM2 Connaught Cadet Course, in the Macdonald Stewart Grand Aggregate.

Prizes: 1st place - The Senator Macdonald Trophy. A Challenge Cup originating

with the late Senator J.A. Macdonald.

Medallions (see Annex A)

The Canadian Forces Target Rifle Championship (#608)

Open to currently serving members of the Regular Force, Primary Reserve, CIC and COATS. Entrants must check the correct box on the entry form. Primary Reserve, CIC and COATS members must be able to verify that they have been actively involved in unit training in the training year previous to the Canadian Championships. Concurrent with the Macdonald Stewart Grand Aggregate. If there are fewer than five eligible competitors,

no award will be made.

Prize: A Challenge Trophy, donated in 2017 by Major D.M. Letson, CD, and a

DCRA Plaque

The Canadian Ladies Target Rifle Championship

Awarded to the top Canadian Lady in the Macdonald Stewart Grand Aggregate.

Prize: The Mary MacLennan Trophy, donated to the DCRA by the Great Britain

Rifle Team in 1967, rededicated in 2014 in recognition of the

achievements and service of the late Mary MacLennan, who, in 1951, was the first lady to qualify for the Canadian Rifle Team to Bisley and a **DCRA**

Gold Medal.

The Canadian Masters Championship (#609)

Awarded for the first time in 1988, this award is for the Canadian Master firing in the TR Class with the highest aggregate score. Ties will be not be shot off; count-back rules will apply (see Rule 24.06).

This award, funded by donations from LCdr R.A. Reid, CD and LCol W.J. Strachan, MBE, CD, (CSM), (CSC), is open only to Canadians who have entered the Prize Meeting classified as Masters, including Life Masters.

Prize:

The form of the award is to be a blazer of a distinctive colour, complete with gold bullion badge. Should an individual win the award more than once, the second and subsequent occasions will be recognized by the provision of a blazer badge and by a cash award equal to the value of the jacket.

Matches & Aggregates In				
The Canadian Masters Championship Aggregate				
Match Code Rounds Distances				
The Maple Leaf Aggregate	(#631)	3 x 10	500y	
		3 x 10	600y	
		1 x 7	500y	
		1 x 7	600y	
Gzowski Aggregate	(#623)	2 x 10	800m	
		1 x 10	900m	
		1 x 15	900m	
Patrons	(#613)	2 x 15	800m & 900m	

The Canadian Target Rifle Championship (#611)

(Used to select *The Canadian Rifle Team to Bisley, o*pen only to Canadian TR shooters)

The **Aggregate** of the scores in the Macdonald Stewart Grand Aggregate, <u>and</u> the Bisley Qualifier <u>or</u> The Patron's (Governor General's Final). This aggregate is the primary means of selection of the TR members of *The Canadian Rifle Team to Bisley;* the top 35 will be invited and will have first preference to be the 18 TR shooters on the next year's Bisley team. Refer to the section "Canadian Rifle Team to Bisley" for details.

A tie for first place will not be shot off; count-back rules will apply for all places.

Prizes:

1st place - **The Spittal Memorial Shield,** presented to the DCRA by the late Major A.M. Taylor Spittal in memory of his father, the late Lieutenant Colonel C.D. Spittal, and now presented by Mrs. A.M.T. Spittal, **DCRA Gold Medallion**, a cash prize of **\$500 donated by The Wind Club**, and **DCRA Gold Badge**

2nd place DCRA Silver Medallion, DCRA Silver Badge
 3rd place DCRA Bronze Medallion, DCRA Bronze Badge

4th-18th 15 DCRA Bronze Medallions

The Top Lady in the Canadian TR Championship. **The Mary McLennan** Lea Trophy and DCRA Gold Medal.

The Top shooter 40 yrs and younger - The **Gerry Ouellette** Prize (#760), supported by the Gerry Ouellette Fund established in 1975 by "Friends of Gerry Ouellette", consisting of a plaque and a non-cash prize of \$500 that may be applied to the following year's entry to the Canadian Fullbore Rifle Championships, The Canadian Rifle Team to Bisley or another Official Canadian International Team travelling outside Canada. The award must be used before the end of the next calendar year.

All medallions awarded for this Aggregate will be accompanied by a special bar marked "BISLEY", in commemoration of Canada's long and illustrious history in sending international Rifle Teams to Bisley, England for well over 100 years. The names and scores of the top 100 Canadians in the Canadian Target Rifle Championship will be posted regardless of Classification, and whether or not the competitor fired in the Bisley Qualifier or the Governor General's Final.

Matches & Aggregates in					
The Canadian Target Rifle Championship					
Match Code Rounds Distances					
The MS Grand Aggregate (#628) 166 300m – 900m					
Bisley Qualifier or Patrons	(#742 or 634)	2 x 15	800m & 900m		

The Champlain Aggregate (#612)

(warmup aggregate, 1st Fri, Sat, Sun)

Prizes: The Ottawa Regiment Cup. A Challenge Cup presented by the Ottawa

Regiment, 43rd D.C.O.R., in memory of the Officers and Men of the 38th

Battalion C.E.F. who lost their lives in the Great War, 1914-18.

Medallions (see Annex A)

Matches in The Champlain Aggregate				
Match	Code	Rounds	Distances	
Ottawa Regiment	(#633)	15	800m	
Gooderham	(#620)	2 x 10	500y & 600y	
Army & Navy Veterans	(#603)	15	900m	
Tilton	(#645)	2 x 10	300m & 600y	

The Major Colin M. Brown Prize (#730)

A Champion Bowl presented in 2014 by members and friends of the DCRA, in commemoration of the 90th birthday of Major Colin M. Brown, CD, UE and of the 75th anniversary of his first competing at the DCRA matches.

The trophy, and a special keeper for the winner, is awarded annually to the Top Canadian (TR), aged 30 or less, in the President's Match.

Matches in The Major Colin M. Brown Prize				
Match Code Rounds Distances				
President's	(#601)	3 x 10	300m, 500y & 600y	

The Colonel John C. Brick (#614)

(1st Monday)

In recognition of the outstanding support and service provided over many years to the DCRA by the late Colonel John C. Brick, CD, QHDS, DDS, Life Governor and former Executive Vice President of the DCRA.

Distances: 500y and 600y **Rounds**: 10 at each distance

Prizes: 1st place – **The Jubilee Cup, a** trophy offered in 1909 by the National Rifle

Association of Great Britain in its competitions of that year, in

commemoration of its fiftieth anniversary; and won outright by the Canadian Rifle Team, by making the highest aggregate score in the "Mackinnon" and "Kolapore" matches.

Medallions (see Annex A).

The Connaught Aggregate (#698)

(2nd Thu-Fri-Sat long ranges)

The aggregate of the scores in the Street, Perry and Gatineau.

Prizes: Medallions (see Annex A)

Matches in The Connaught Aggregate					
Match	Match Code Rounds Distances				
Street	(#633)	3 x 15	700m, 800m and 900m		
Perry	(#620)	2 x 15	800m and 900m		
Gatineau	(#603)	15	900m		

The Coulter (#680)

(concurrent with the All-Comers Aggregate)

Awarded to the top TR shooter under the age of 25 in the All-Comers Aggregate.

Prize:

The Coulter Trophy, presented by Mrs. A.B. Coulter in 1985 in memory of her late husband, Major Alan B. Coulter, O.B.E., a past President and Life Governor of the DCRA, for annual Team competition, and a **DCRA Gold Medal**.

The Des Burke Award (#615)

This award is made in recognition of the character and excellence of marksmanship, in both target and service rifle competition, of the late Lieutenant Colonel Desmond T. Burke, ED, MD, CM, DMR(Eng), CRCP(C), MOSR(hon), (CGM), (CSM), (CSC), (GM), (GC2), (SC).

To win the award, a competitor, regardless of Classification, must have been nominated by his or her Provincial Rifle Association or NDHQRA/NCRRA, attend the National Matches conducted by the DCRA in the year of his or her nomination, fire the full course of individual target rifle events in the Grand Aggregate, demonstrate high standards of sportsmanship, and be of good character. To determine the winner, a series of events will be selected from the matches in the Grand Aggregate, by a special panel of the DCRA Executive. Their selected course of fire shall not be announced prior to the start of the TR Matches. 9Since sportsmanship, character and shooting performance shall be the basis for this award, it is most important that the PRAs and NDHQRA/NCRRA ensure that nominees will attend the National Matches in the year of their nomination and that their competence as shooters affords them a fair chance of top performance at the National Matches and, hence, a fair chance to win the award.

The qualifying conditions for nomination of a candidate for the Des Burke Award shall be determined by the PRAs and NDHQRA/NCRRA, and need not be the same for each such association. The common denominator for all candidates will be shooting performance at the National Matches.

The Des Burke award is open only to 'Canadians' as defined in the Rules. An individual may be nominated and win the award more than once.

Nominations, in writing, must be in the hands of the Match Director by 1200 hours on the 1st Sunday, 19th August.

The Dick Hampton Aggregate (#713)

(Monday Aggregate)

In memory of the achievements and service to the DCRA of the late Major R.W. (Dick) Hampton, CD (GM), 1914 - 1997, winner of H.M. The Queen's Prize at Bisley in 1966, Executive Vice President of the DCRA from 1969 to 1970, and elected to the Canadian Forces Sports Hall of Fame in 1982.

Prizes:

1st - The **Hampton Trophy.** A Challenge Trophy donated by Mrs. Veronica Hampton in 2004.

Medallions (see Annex A)

Matches In The Dick Hampton Aggregate				
Match Code Rounds Distances				
Colonel John C. Brick	(#614)	2 x 10	500y & 600y	
Norman Beckett	(#613)	2 x 10	300m and 800m	

The Gatineau (#617)

(2nd Friday AM)

Distance: 900m Rounds: 15

Prizes: The Transvaal Cup. A Challenge Cup presented by Major Sir A.C.M. Bell,

ADC, Scots Guards, as a memorial of services with the 2nd Battalion Royal Canadian Regiment of Infantry, during the South African War, 1899 – 1902

Medallions (see Annex A)

Note: All competitors will be re-squadded for this match, based on their standing

in the Grand Aggregate on Wednesday evening, and must pick up their tickets between 1200 hours on 2nd Thursday and 0745 hours on 2nd Friday.

The Gibson (#618)

(2nd Wednesday PM & 2nd Thursday AM)

Distances: 300m, 600y and 800m **Rounds**: 10 at each distance

Prizes: The Gibson Trophy. Originally presented by the late Major General Sir

John M. Gibson, which was won outright by the late Lieutenant Colonel F.W. Utton, and is now offered by Mrs. Utton as a memorial to her late husband.

Medallions (see Annex A)

The Gil Boa Aggregate (#726)

(Wednesday Aggregate)

In memory of the achievements of Gilmour S. Boa G.M., 1924-1973, five-time member of the Canadian Olympic Shooting Team, winner of the World Smallbore Championship at Caracas in 1954, and of the H.M. The King's Prize at Bisley in 1951.

Prizes: The **Gil Boa Trophy**, donated by the Boa family in 2007, will be awarded

to the top TR shooter.

Medallions (see Annex A)

Matches In The Gil Boa Aggregate				
Match Code Rounds Distances				
President's	(#637)	3 x 10	300m, 500y & 600y	
Gibson	(#618)	10	800m only	

The Gooderham (#620)

(1st Saturday)

Distances: 500y & 600y Rounds: 10

Prizes: The Gooderham Cup. A Challenge Cup originally presented by the late

Lieutenant Colonel A.E. Gooderham.

Medallions (see Annex A)

Governor General's Qualifier (#621)

The aggregate of the scores in the Letson and President's. It will be used to select the top shooters to compete in The Patron's, which is the final stage of the Governor General's Prize. If necessary, a shoot-off will be held for the last places eligible to fire The Patron's; see the Notice Board for details.

The top fifty Target Rifle competitors will be eligible to fire The Patron's (Governor General's Final Stage).

Canadian competitors not qualifying to fire The Patrons will be entitled, subject to availability of target markers, to fire the equivalent course of fire in **The Bisley Qualifier**. Tickets for The Bisley Qualifier will be handed out based on the shooter's placing in the Governor General's Qualifier.

The list will be posted by 1200 hours 2nd Friday. **Tickets for The Patron's or The Bisley Qualifier must be picked up** between 1600 hrs 2nd Friday and 1100 hrs 2nd Saturday.

Prizes:

1st – **The Marville Challenge Trophy** donated by Captain L.H. Douglas, MD, and the **NRA Silver Medal** will be awarded to the Target Rifle competitor with the highest score in the Qualifying Stage.

Matches in The Governor General's Qualifier				
Match Code Rounds Distances				
Letson	(#626)	3 x 7	300m, 500y & 600y	
President's	(#637)	3 x 10	300m, 500y & 600y	

Her Excellency, The Governor-General's Prize (#622)

Trophy and Prizes presented by Her Excellency the Governor-General, with Souvenir Badges and cash added by the Dominion of Canada Rifle Association. The places of all competitors in **The Governor General's Prize** will be decided by their combined score in the President's Match and The Patron's.

To be fired in two stages.

Stage 1 All competitors fire the first stage **Governor General's Qualifier** (Letson plus President's). The top 50 competitors will advance to the second and final stage. A **Governor General's Final Badge** will be awarded to each of the fifty finalists.

A group photograph of all finalists will be taken at 1300 hours on the Final Saturday in front of the DCRA Headquarters Building.

Stage 2 is fired shoulder-to-shoulder by the top 50 competitors, 15 @ 800m and 15 @ 900m on the afternoon of the 2nd Saturday. This final stage is named **The Patron's**.

Final standings will be determined by the aggregate of the **The President's** and the **The Patron's**

Prizes: 1st place - H.E. The Governor General's Gold Medal, Gold Badge and

\$500.00

2nd place - H.E. The Governor General's Silver Medal, Silver Badge and

\$250.00

3rd place - H.E. The Governor General's Bronze Medal, Bronze Badge

and \$100.00

Ties for First Place in the Governor General's Prize: A tie for first place will be decided by shoot-off in accordance with Rule 24.06. Competitors who have a chance of being in the tie shoot for this match must not leave the range until being released by the Chief Range Officer.

The Gzowski Aggregate (#623)

(The Long-Range aggregate)

Prizes: 1st place - The Gzowski Challenge Cup, A Challenge Cup originally

presented by the late Colonel Sir Casimir Gzowski, KCMG, ADC to Queen Victoria, past President of the DCRA, awarded to the top TR shooter, and

DCRA Gold Medal

2nd place - DCRA Silver Medal 3rd place - DCRA Bronze Medal

Medallions (see Annex A)

Matches in The Gzowski Aggregate					
Match Code Rounds Distances					
Norman Beckett	(#613)	10	800m only		
Alexander of Tunis	(#601)	10	900m		
Gibson	(#618)	10	800m only		
Gatineau	(#617)	15	900m		

The Harrison (#681)

(concurrent with the Gzowski Aggregate)

Awarded to the top shooter under the age of 25 in the Gzowski Aggregate.

Prize: The Harrison Trophy, presented by the late Colonel Henry Harrison, VD,

of Montreal, and a DCRA Gold Medal.

The Hayhurst (#624)

(2nd Friday PM)

In recognition of Sgt T.H. Hayhurst, the first Canadian winner of H.M. The Queen's Prize at Bisley in 1895.

Sufficient space will be reserved for all Fullbore Marksman II Course cadets firing the Cadet Bisley Aggregate and ACF Cadets. Such Cadets must use the ammunition prescribed by the Cadet Shooting Authorities.

There may be space for other entries.

Distances: 300y, 500y and 600y **Rounds**: 10 at each distance

Ties: Ties will be "counted back" under Rule 24.06.

Prizes: 1st place (TR) – The Small Magazine Lee Enfield (S.M.L.E.) Challenge

Trophy. Presented by the DCRA in 1935, for competition using the 0.22"

S.M.L.E. rifle; reassigned to the Hayhurst Match in 1999.

Medallions (see Annex A)

The Jack Gorrie Aggregate (#712)

(Tuesday aggregate)

In memory of the dedicated service and support to the DCRA of the late Professor J.D. (Jack) Gorrie, 1947 - 2003, who pioneered the use of computers for the squadding and scoring of rifle matches over the period 1976 - 2003.

Prizes: 1st place - The Carling Breweries Challenge Trophy presented by Carling

Breweries Ltd.,

Medallions (see Annex A)

Matches in The Jack Gorrie Aggregate			
Match Code Rounds Distances			
Alexander of Tunis	(#601)	10	900m
Letson	(#626)	3 x 7	300m, 500y & 600y

The Imperial Cadet Cup

(Subject to the entry of a British Cadet Team)

To be awarded to the Cadet (including off-shore Cadets) who makes the highest score in the complete aggregate at the National Cadet Fullbore Championship (NCFC) held just prior to the CFRC.

Prize: The Imperial Cup, a Challenge Cup presented to the Dominion of Canada Rifle Association by the visiting Imperial Cadet Team to Rockcliffe in 1910,

and DCRA Gold Medal.

Matches in The Imperial Cadet Aggregate			
Match	Code	Rounds	Distances
Gerry Ouellette		10	300y
Alain Marion		10	500y
Clem Tremblay		10	600y
Pat Vamplew		10	300y
Gil Boa		10	600y

The Klondike Aggregate (#625)

(The "Half-way" Aggregate.)

Prizes: 1st - The Cummings Cup. A Challenge Cup presented by M.N. Cummings

in 1928.

Medallions (see Annex A)

Matches In The Klondike Aggregate				
Match	Code	Rounds	Distances	
MacDougall	(#630)	2 x 10	300m & 500y	
Colonel John C. Brick	(#614)	2 x 10	500y & 600y	
Norman Beckett	(#613)	2 x 10	300m & 800m	
Letson	(#626)	3 x 7	300m, 500y & 600y	
Alexander of Tunis	(#601)	10	900m	

The Letson (#626)

(1st Tuesday)

In recognition of the valuable services of the late Major General H.F.G. Letson, CB, CBE, MC, ED, CD, as President and Life Governor.

Distances: 300m, 500y and 600y **Rounds**: 7 at each distance

Prizes: 1st - A DCRA Life Membership made possible by a legacy from the late

Major General H.F.G. Letson.

If the winner is already a Life Member of DCRA, in lieu, a cash award of \$250.

Medallions (see Annex A)

The Macdonald Stewart Grand Aggregate (#628)

(The Canadian Open TR Championship)

The Macdonald Stewart Grand Aggregate is Canadian fullbore shooting's premier aggregate for TR shooters. In recognition of this the winner will be known as **The 2018 Canadian Open Champion** for TR shooting.

TR - Open Prizes - regardless of (TR) Classification:

1st place - **The Fraser Challenge Trophy** presented by the late Colonel J.D. Fraser, VD, a Life Governor and Past President of the DCRA, a **DCRA Gold Cross** and **DCRA Scroll Plaque**.

The Walter M. Stewart Memorial Prize (**The Lassie**) and Gold Coin, courtesy of the Macdonald Stewart Foundation, is presented at the annual dinner.

2nd place - DCRA Silver Cross, \$200.00 and DCRA silver plaque

3rd place - DCRA Bronze Cross, \$100.00 and DCRA bronze plaque

4th-25th place - DCRA Bronze Crosses

High "Under 25" Canadian Shooter - **The Walter M. Stewart Memorial Prize and DCRA gold plaque** (#629) (See DCRA Directive 102 for details and conditions of the prize)

TR - Reserved Prizes:

- Top Expert **The Royal Rifles of Canada Challenge Cup**, donated to the Province of Quebec Rifle Association (PQRA) in 1965, loaned by the PQRA in 1997 and a **DCRA Gold Plaque**. (#695)
- Top Sharpshooter **The Strachan Challenge Trophy**, donated to the PQRA by LCol Wm. J. Strachan, M.B.E., in 1961, loaned by the PQRA to the DCRA in 1997 and a **DCRA Gold Plaque**. (#696)
- Top Greenshot **The Westhead Trophy**, originally donated to the Northern Rhodesia Rifle Association in 1959 as an award to the winner of the non-Qualifier Bisley Match in the Annual Championships. The trophy disappeared in the 1960s after Zambia's independence, but was located in a garage in 1994 and transported to Bisley, England, and thence to Canada. The trophy was donated in 1997 for annual competition in the Macdonald Stewart Grand Aggregate at the Canadian Championships by Doran (Westhead) Sewell and Don Sewell. The Trophy and a **DCRA Gold Plaque** are awarded to the top shooter in the Greenshot Class.

Top Lady - A Rose Bowl presented by Major C.W. Spencer and family in memory of Mrs. Tess Spencer, who competed for many years at Provincial and National Matches with members of her family, and a silver rose bowl keeper. (#644)

A cash award, made possible by a donation from Mr. Frank Jermey, will be made to the TR shooter who places either 2/3rd of the way down the list of scores in the Macdonald Stewart Grand Aggregate or in 200th place, whichever is the smaller number. Rounding off will be the nearest whole number.

Medallions (see Annex A)

Matches in The Macdonald Stewart Grand Aggregate				
Match	Code	Rounds	Distances	
MacDougall	(#630)	2 x 10	300m & 500y	
Colonel John C. Brick	(#614)	2 x 10	500m & 600y	
Norman Beckett	(#613)	2 x 10	300m & 800m	
Letson	(#626)	3 x 7	300m, 500y & 600y	
Alexander of Tunis	(#601)	10	900m	
President's	(#637)	3 x 10	300m, 500y & 600y	
Gibson	(#618)	3 x 10	300m, 600y & 800m	
Gatineau	(#617)	15	900m	

The MacDougall (#630)

(1st Sunday PM)

Distance: 300m and 500y **Rounds**: 10 at each distance

Prizes: 1st - The MacDougall Cup. A Challenge Cup presented in 1868 by the

late Lady MacDougall, wife of Sir Patrick Leonard MacDougall, the

Adjutant General. This is the DCRA's oldest challenge trophy.

Medallions (see Annex A)

The Maple Leaf Aggregate (#631)

(mid range agg)

Prizes: 1st TR - The Walker Cup. A Challenge Cup presented by Hiram Walker and

Sons, Distillers, of Walkerville, Ontario in 1892.

Medallions (see Annex A)

Matches In The Maple Leaf Aggregate				
Match	Code	Rounds	Distances	
MacDougall	(#630)	10	500y	
Colonel John C. Brick	(#614)	2 x 10	500y & 600y	
Letson	(#626)	2 x 7	500y & 600y	
President's	(#637)	2 x 10	500y & 600y	
Gibson	(#618)	10	600y	

The McCulloch Trophy (#632)

Concurrent with the All Comers Aggregate. To be awarded to the highest scoring competitor aged 65 or over (on 01 July prior to the Prize Meeting).

Prizes:

1st - **The McCulloch Trophy.** A Challenge Trophy presented by Dr. J.R. McCulloch in 1983 in appreciation of the hospitality shown to him by Canadian shooters over many years, and **DCRA Gold Medal.**

The LGen W.A. Milroy Aggregate (#728)

In memory of Lieutenant General W.A. Milroy, CM, DSO, CstJ, CD, DMilS, 1920-2006, DCRA President from 1974 to 1981 and Life Governor. During his term as President, he guided the Association through some very difficult and divisive issues. Thanks to his outstanding leadership and diplomacy the DCRA came through this contentious period a united and stronger Association. He led the Association's Building Committee in the construction of our new headquarters building and spearheaded the fundraising campaign, which succeeded in raising in excess of \$220,000 over a two-year period.

The **Canada Club Cup** was donated to the Canadian Wimbledon Team Commandant by the Canada Club of London in 1886 and was presented to Trooper Beatty, the high aggregate team member that year. A review of the annals reveals that the provision of a trophy by the Canada Club of London was for some time an annual occurrence and it was awarded to Canadian Team members for varying accomplishments.

In 2005 it was brought to the attention of the DCRA that the 1886 trophy was available on auction on eBay. Through the generosity of donations from DCRA members, the trophy was bid for and purchased.

In 2006 it was rededicated in honour of the Late Lieutenant General W. A. Milroy.

Prizes: 1st TR - The Canada Club Cup.

Medallions (see Annex A)

Matches In The LGen W.A. Milroy Aggregate				
Match (Better of)	Code	Rounds	Distances	
Beckett or Gibson		10	300m	
Brick or President's		10	500y	
Brick or President's		10	600y	
Beckett or Gibson		10	800m	
A. of Tunis or Gatineau		10 & first 10	900m	
		of Gatineau		

The Norman Beckett (#613)

(1st Monday)

In memory of the achievements of Norman Beckett, winner of H.M. The Queen's Prize in 1961 and three-time winner of H.E. the Governor General's prize.

Distances: 300m and 800m **Rounds**: 10 at each distance

Prizes: 1st - **The City of Ottawa Trophy.** A Silver Challenge Trophy presented by

the Corporation of the City of Ottawa.

Medallions (see Annex A)

The Ottawa Regiment (#633)

(1st Friday evening)

Distance: 800m Rounds: 15

Prizes: 1st - The Helmer Trophy. A Challenge Trophy presented by the Ottawa

Regiment in memory of Brigadier General A.D. Helmer.

Medallions (see Annex A).

The Otter (#682)

(concurrent with the Macdonald Stewart Grand Aggregate)

Awarded to the top shooter under the age of 25 in the Canadian Open TR Championship.

Prize:

The Otter Cup, presented by the late Lieutenant General Sir W.D. Otter, GCB, to the Canadian Rifle League, assumed by the DCRA on the absorption of the League in 1924-25, and a **DCRA Gold Medal**.

The Patron's (#634)

(Final Stage – Governor General's Prize, 2nd Saturday)

In recognition of the Patron of the Dominion of Canada Rifle Association, Her Excellency, the Governor General of Canada.

This match is the Final Stage of the Governor General's Prize.

Fifty TR competitors will fire this match. See Governor General's Qualifier for details. Qualified competitors must pick up their match tickets from the DCRA Office by 1230 hours on the 2nd Saturday, 25th August.

A group photograph of all finalists will be taken at 1300 hours on the 2nd Saturday in front of the DCRA Headquarters Building.

Ties in The Patron's will not be shot off – count back rules will apply (Rule 24.06). But please do note that since <u>ties in the Governor General's Prize will be shot off</u>, competitors who have a chance of being in the tie shoot must not leave the range until released by the Chief Range Officer.

Distances: 800m and 900m **Rounds:** 15 at each distance

Prizes:

1st place – **The Roger Johnston Memorial Cup** and plaque. Presented in 1999 by *Precision Shooting Magazine* in memory of the late Roger Johnston, President of NECO, U.S.A. Roger Johnston was a co-developer of the process of moly-coating bullets, as well as fire lapping and other significant advances in the field of rifle accuracy.

A Governor General's Final Badge will be awarded to each of the fifty finalists.

Medallions (see Annex A).

The S.J. Perry (#635)

(2nd Saturday AM)

In recognition of Private S.J. Perry, second Canadian winner of H.M. The King's Prize at Bisley in 1904.

Distances: 800m and 900m **Rounds**: 15 at each distance

Prizes: The Vickers Machine Gun Cup, one of two trophies presented to the

DCRA by the Canadian Machine Gun Corps Association in 1928,

reassigned to the S.J. Perry Match in 1999.

Medallions (see Annex A)

The Polar Bear Aggregate (#636)

In recognition of outstanding shooting at mid and long-ranges.

The **Aggregate** of scores at 500 and 600 yards, and 800 and 900 metres in the MacDougall, Colonel John C. Brick, Norman Beckett, Letson, Alexander of Tunis, President's, Gibson, and Gatineau.

Prizes:

1st place - **The Edwin J. McCoy Trophy**, presented in 1980 by Colonel T.R. McCoy, CD, former Executive Director of the DCRA, and his brother G.L. McCoy. **Souvenirs** donated by Mr. Paul Reibin.

10 Silver "Polar Bear" badges to the top ten TR scores regardless of Classification.

Matches In The Polar Bear Aggregate				
Match	Code	Rounds	Distances	
MacDougall	(#630)	10	500y	
Colonel John C. Brick	(#614)	2 x 10	500y & 600y	
Norman Beckett	(#613)	10	800m	
Letson	(#626)	2 x 7	500y & 600y	
Alexander of Tunis	(#601)	10	900m	
President's	(#637)	2 x 10	500y & 600y	
Gibson	(#618)	2 x 10	600y & 800m	
Gatineau	(#617)	15	900m	

The President's (#637)

(2nd Wednesday)

Distances: 300m, 500y and 600y **Rounds**: 10 at each distance

Prizes: The Coulter Cup. A Challenge Cup presented in 1978 by Major Alan B.

Coulter, OBE, Life Governor and President of the DCRA from 1957 to 1962.

Medallions (see Annex A)

The Russell G. Potter Memorial (#638)

A Challenge Trophy presented in 1961 by the Royal Hamilton Light Infantry Rifle Association in memory of LAC Russell G. Potter, RCAF, the 21-year-old son of the late Sgt Russell S. Potter, RHLI(M), accidentally killed August 14th, 1960.

The challenge trophy and a **DCRA plaque** will be awarded to the competitor who is **18 or 19 years of age** on the 2nd Friday of the Canadian Championships, and who places highest in the Macdonald Stewart Grand Aggregate.

The Short-Range Aggregate (#639)

The **Aggregate** of the scores in the 300-metre ranges of the MacDougall, Norman Beckett, Letson, President's and Gibson.

Prizes: The Pennington MacPherson Cup presented by the family of the late LCol

J. Pennington MacPherson in 1927.

Medallions (see Annex A)

Matches in The Short Range Aggregate				
Match	Code	Rounds	Distances	
MacDougall	(#630)	10	300m	
Norman Beckett	(#613)	10	300m	
Letson	(#626)	7	300m	
President's	(#637)	10	300m	
Gibson	(#618)	10	300m	

The (TR) Sierra Canadian Long Range Challenge (#627)

(1st Saturday)

Sponsored by **SIERRA**, **The Bulletsmiths**, who have generously established a pool of bullets as prizes.

Competitors will fire two stages: 1st Saturday PM, 2 sighters and 15 on score at 800m and then 900m.

Note: One range on 1st Saturday afternoon will be fired concurrently with the Army & Navy Veterans. A competitor in the Sierra Long Range Challenge will also be entered in the Army & Navy Veterans and not be required to pay any additional fee. Please see the entry form.

Targets: DCRA Long Range TR targets.

Time Limits: 45 second per shot rule applies.

Classes of Entry: TR-Master, TR-Expert, TR-Sharpshooter combined with TR-

Greenshot

Prizes: Bullet prizes will be awarded for each of the four matches fired in this

aggregate.

1st place - The Barbarians Cup Presented in 2000 by the Barbarians

Rifle Club from Great Britain, to commemorate their first visit to Canada and in appreciation for friendly hospitality received

whilst on tour, and DCRA Gold Medal

2nd place - DCRA Silver Medal (if 8+ entries in the TR classes)
3rd place - DCRA Bronze Medal (if 15+ entries in the TR classes)

Top or next E -DCRA Bronze Medal (if 3+ entries in E)

Top or next SS/G -DCRA Bronze Medal (if 3+ entries in SS/G)

Matches in The TR Sierra Long Range Challenge Aggregate				
Match	Code	Rounds	Relays	
TR Sierra Long Range Challenge III	(#853)	15	1	
Army & Navy Veterans	(#603)	15	1	

The Street (#641)

(2nd Thursday – not in MacDonald Stewart Grand Agg)

Distances:700m, 800m & 900m **Rounds**: 15 at each distance

Prizes: The Street Challenge Trophy. A Challenge Trophy presented by the late

Colonel D.R. Street.

Medallions (see Annex A)

The Tilton (#645)

(1st Sunday AM)

In recognition of Lieutenant Colonel John Tilton, Chairman of the original Bisley Pavilion Building Committee.

Distances: 300m and 600y **Rounds**: 10 at each distance

Prizes: 1st - **The Ottawa Electric Trophy** presented to the DCRA by the Ottawa

Electric Company in 1928 for annual competition; reassigned to the Tilton

Match in 1999.

Medallions (see Annex A)

The Viscount Wakefield Cadet Aggregate

To be awarded to the Canadian Cadet who makes the highest score in the complete aggregate at the NCFC held just prior to the CFRC.

Prizes:

The Viscount Wakefield Cup. A Challenge Cup presented to the Dominion of Canada Rifle Association by the late Right Honourable the Viscount Wakefield of Hythe, and a **DCRA Gold Medal**.

Matches in The Viscount Wakefield Cadet Aggregate				
Match	Code	Rounds	Distances	
Gerry Ouellette		10	300y	
Alain Marion		10	500y	
Clem Tremblay		10	600y	
Pat Vamplew		10	300y	
Gil Boa		10	600y	

The M.F.C. Walker Aggregate (#727)

(900m Agg)

In memory of Dr. M.F.C. (Mike) Walker, 1915-2006, Life Governor of the DCRA, whose greatest interests were travelling and competing overseas and in providing generous hospitality to off-shore teams visiting Canada.

Aggregate of scores in the Alexander of Tunis and Gatineau Matches.

Prize List:

1st place 2nd place 3rd place Top Expert Top Sharpshooter Top Greenshot
DCRA Gold medal
DCRA Silver medal
DCRA Bronze medal
DCRA Bronze medal
DCRA Bronze medal

Matches In The M.F.C. Walker Aggregate			
Match Code Rounds Distances			
Alexander of Tunis	(#601)	10	900m
Gatineau	(#617)	15	900m

TEAM COMPETITIONS

Information for Team Captains

See the Match Conditions for Entry Eligibility

<u>Match</u>	No. of <u>Shooters</u>	Enter Before <u>Day</u>	<u>Time</u>		
International Shoulder-to-Shoulder					
Outlander Commonwealth Under 25 Long Range Under 25 Short Range Canada	8 12 5 5 8	2 nd Wednesday 2 nd Friday 2 nd Friday 2 nd Thursday 2 nd Thursday	1300 0800 0800 1300 1300		
Unit/Club/Other Shoulder-to-Shoulder					
Provincial Match London Merchants Match Algonquin Lansdowne Coaches Match	4 4 4 4 2	2 nd Wednesday 2 nd Wednesday 2 nd Friday 2 nd Thursday 1 st Monday	1300 1300 0800 1300 1300		
Cae	det Shoulder-	<u>-to-Shoulder</u>			
CANLOAN Rex Goddard Michael Faraday	8 12 12	Prior Tuesday Prior Tuesday 2 nd Wednesday	1500 1500 1300		
,	Provincial Co	oncurrent			
Coates All Comers Macdonald Stewart Steinhardt Jubilee Carling Breweries Ladies' Pairs Veterans	6 6 8 6 6 6 2 4	1 st Sunday 1 st Sunday 1 st Sunday 1 st Sunday 1 st Monday 1 st Tuesday 1 st Tuesday	1800 1300 1300 1300 1300 1300 1300		

Unit/Unit Rifle Association/Club/Cadets Concurrent

Gillespie	4	1 st Sunday	1300
Imperial Tobacco	4	1 st Sunday	1300
Gordon Highlanders	8	1 st Monday	1300
Victoria Rifles	4	1 st Monday	1300
Mayor of Bagshot's Vase	4	1 st Monday	1300
Aylmer Gard	4	1 st Tuesday	1300
	<u>Miscellane</u>	ous Concurrent	
Champion Pairs	Miscellane		1300
Champion Pairs Families		ous Concurrent 1 st Saturday 1 st Tuesday.	1300 1300

Senior/Under 25 Pairs 2 1st Sunday United Empire 2 1st Sunday

Teams Organised by the DCRA

Team Competitions - Precedence

Posted by

1300

1300

In team competitions scheduled for the same time, the order of precedence for team personnel selection will be in accordance with Rule 6.07(3).

Team Competitions - Prizes

In certain team competitions, the number of prizes is determined by the number of teams entered. These numbers are shown in the conditions for each match. No prizes will be awarded if only one team, or if less than the specified minimum number of teams, enters. Under these circumstances, the full entry fee will be refunded for concurrent team matches. For shoulder-to-shoulder matches, teams may opt either to withdraw from the match, with full refund of the entry fee, or to fire the match's course of fire, with a 50% refund of the entry fee.

International (Overseas) Teams and Visitors from outside Canada

Provided the provisions of DCRA Rules have been met, visiting teams do not have to declare an "official squad" in advance.

Classification of competitors from outside Canada will be in accordance with DCRA Rules (Chapter 5.04).

Countries from outside Canada wishing to be considered as a group for team competition must submit their request, in writing, to the Executive Committee via the Match Director preferably well before arrival at Connaught and in any case not later than 48 hours before the deadline for entries to any competition in which they might wish to participate <u>and</u> not later than 1800 hours 1st Friday.

Official Provincial Teams

Official Provincial Teams may consist of a maximum of a Captain and thirty (30) members. Teams may not have more than 20 members who are MASTERS or EXPERTS.

Qualification for a Provincial Team is by permanent residence or birth. In the case of a shooter being 'claimed' by two Provinces, that of permanent residence will take precedence. For this purpose, the "Lakehead" area will be included in Manitoba.

The list of names and competitor numbers of the members of the official team must be handed in to the DCRA Office in duplicate, not later than 1200 hours (noon) 1st Sunday.

Provincial Association teams wishing to be considered as a group for team competition must submit their request, in writing, to the Executive Committee via the Match Director preferably well before arrival at Connaught and in any case not later than 48 hours before the deadline for entries to any competition in which they might wish to participate and no later than 1800 hours 1st Friday.

Procedure for Team Captains

- 1. Match entries must be made by the time stated on the previous pages. This is to ensure that adequate targets and staff are available.
- 2. For <u>shoulder-to-shoulder team matches</u>, the names and competitor numbers of team members, including all team officers, coaches, and reserves as well as shooters, must be given in writing on the proper form, obtained from the DCRA Office at time of entry, to the Range Officer conducting the match, at the time of rifle testing and/or target allocation on the range.
- 3. For concurrent aggregates, unless otherwise stated in the conditions for the competition, the names and competitor numbers must be submitted to the DCRA Office on the proper form before the commencement of the first range of the aggregate.

INTERNATIONAL TEAM MATCHES

The International Palma Match

This historic long range match was officially revived in 1967 as part of the DCRA's celebrations of Canada's Centennial. The governing body was a joint committee of the National Rifle Association of the United States of America and the Dominion of Canada Rifle Association. It was agreed that other countries could host the match with the approval of the governing body.

The Palma Match is firmly established as part of the Long-Range World Shooting Championship and is now managed by the International Confederation of Fullbore Rifle Associations (ICFRA), which has assumed the responsibilities of the former International Palma Council.

The next World Long Range Championships and Palma Match are being held at Trentham Ranges, Wellington, New Zealand, in January 2019.

The America Match (#750)

The America Match (TR) will next be fired at Connaught in August 2018.

RULES AND CONDITIONS OF THE AMERICA MATCH

CONDITIONS

The America Match, in which National Teams compete for the America Trophy, may only be conducted when authorized by the National Rifle Association (NRA) of the United States of America and when an official team endorsed by the NRA Highpower Committee of the NRA Competitions Division is present and competing.

FREQUENCY

The Match will normally be held every second year, with the venue alternating between Canada and the United States of America. The Match will not normally be held in a year in which the International Palma Match is being held. Other countries may, on application to and approval by the NRA of the United States of America, be invited to conduct the match. The schedule will be determined by the NRA of the United States of America, with the date and venue of the match being announced to all potential competing nations not less than eighteen (18) months prior to the match. Teams must declare their intention to participate not less than twelve (12) months prior to the Match.

ENTRY FEE

The Host Country may charge an entry fee to defray the costs of conducting the Match. The fee shall be announced to all teams that have declared an intention to participate

not less than six (6) months prior to the Match.

TEAM COMPOSITION

Teams shall consist of a (1) Captain, a (1) Vice-Captain, one (1) main Coach, two (2) sub-Coaches, eight (8) firers and two (2) reserves, a total of fifteen (15) team members. Only team members may take part in firing point activities. If one of the firers falls ill and is unable to continue, another member of the team may take his/her place. Entry forms complete with team composition are to be submitted to the DCRA office in accordance with the timings detailed in TR & F-Class Team Competitions.

DISTANCES

300, 600, 900 and 1000 yards, or 300, 600, 800 and 900 metres, as appropriate to the venue.

NUMBER OF SHOTS

Each firing member of the team shall fire two (2) sighting shots (convertible) and fifteen (15) shots on score at each distance.

SIGHTING SHOTS

Two sighting shots shall be fired at each distance, of which the second or both may be converted. If shooting is interrupted for any team or teams by any external cause for more than three (3) minutes, the firer or firers so interrupted shall, on resuming, be allowed one non-convertible sighting shot. In the event of a rifle being changed, a sighting shot is not permitted.

TIME LIMITS

1 hour 20 minutes 300y/300m and 600y/600m

1 hour 45 minutes 900y/800m and 1000y/900m

If firing is interrupted by any external cause for more than three (3) minutes, Team Captains may request an extension of time. The Chief Range Officer will ensure that any extension is properly allowed.

CONDUCT OF THE MATCH

The Council of the National Rifle Association hosting the Match shall appoint a Match Executive Officer and a Chief Range Officer who shall be responsible for the overall arrangements for and conduct of the Match in accordance with the Rules.

MEETING

Not less than the day prior to the Match, the Match Executive Officer shall chair a meeting of all Team Captains, Vice-Captains and the Chief Range Officer to resolve any issues or questions pertinent to the conduct of the Match.

DISPUTES

Disputes (if any) shall be heard by a Match Committee of three (3) persons, consisting

of the Match Executive Officer, Chief Range Officer and one other person from a/the non-host country appointed by those present at the pre-match meeting.

RIFLES

Rifles must conform to the currently approved Rules for the International Palma Match, except that the Host Country may specify the maximum rifle weight and minimum trigger weight. Rifles must be chambered for standard .308 Winchester. A rifle may be changed at any time for any reason (see sighting shots above). Team members may use the same rifle.

RIFLE CHECKING

All rifles to be used by teams in the Match shall be checked by the Match Executive Officer and Chief Range Officer for conformation with the Rules prior to the commencement of firing the first range. Rifles which have been checked and which conform to the rules shall have a distinguishing sticker attached. Random checks of rifles may be carried out by the Match Executive Officer or the Chief Range Officer at any time during the Match.

AMMUNITION

.308 Winchester ammunition is to be provided by each team or team member. The maximum bullet weight shall be 156 grains. The Host Country is not required to provide ammunition. Random checks of ammunition may be carried out by the Match Executive Officer or the Chief Range Officer at any time during the course of the Match.

SHOOTING POSITION

Prone, as defined in the Rules of the Host Country.

TARGETS

Two targets shall be available to each team and shall conform to those of the Host Country for each distance shot. Draws for targets will be held by the Chief Range Officer prior to the 300y/m and 900y/800m distances. The Chief Range Officer may require teams to shift targets between ranges.

BUTTS OBSERVER

Each team may, at its discretion, send one observer to the butts. Observers must be in the butts before the draws for targets are held.

SCORE CARDS

Score cards shall be provided by the Host Country. Copies of the score cards for all teams in the Match shall be forwarded to the NRA of the United States of America no later than two months after the firing of the Match. The NRA of the United States of America shall maintain records of all scores made and of all team members, including coaches and reserves, for each America Match.

SCORING

Each team shall provide two (2) scorers, who will score for another team as directed by the Chief Range Officer. Team members, including reserves, or other volunteers may act as scorers.

TIES

Team scores are tied when the points and V(X)-bulls are equal. Ties shall be resolved by the highest team scores at the longest range fired.

TROPHIES AND AWARDS

The "America Match" Trophy and fifteen (15) special DCRA medals will be presented to the winning team. The Trophy was purchased from a special fund established by Precision Shooting Magazine. The Trophy may, at the sole discretion of the NRA, be held by the Association of the winning team, or remain in the custody of the NRA. If the former, the Association will accept the responsibility for safe storage of the trophy, for having it properly engraved and for ensuring that it is transported to the next venue at the appropriate time.

GENERAL

- (1) Any matter not provided for in these Rules and Conditions shall be decided on at the Meeting of the Match Executive Officer, Chief Range Officer, Team Captains and Vice-Captains prior to the Match.
- (2) All matters arising during the Match shall be resolved by the Match Committee.
- (3) As far as is practicable, no other firing will take place on the same rifle range on the day that the America Match is held.
- (4) Unless otherwise specified, the Rules of the International Palma Match and of the Host Country shall be those governing the America Match.

VARIATIONS TO RULES/CONDITIONS

Variations to these Rules and Conditions may only be made by the NRA of the United States and shall be circulated to all participating teams not less than twelve months prior to the next firing of the Match.

The Canada Match (#656)

(Second Friday)

Open to TR teams of a Captain, Adjutant, Main Coach, eight shooting members, two Sub-Coaches and two spares.

One team from Canada and one team from each Official Visiting International Team, or DCRA approved group of such teams. Subject to availability of space and target markers, additional teams may enter the match to shoot alongside for honours only, for 50% of the regular entry fee.

Distances: 300y, 500y and 600y

Rounds: 10 at each distance

Targets: 2 for each team at each distance.

Time Limit: 60 minutes at each distance.

The Captain of the Canadian team shall be appointed by the Council of the DCRA.

Coaching and spotting are allowed only by team members (including spares).

Each team must supply two register keepers to the Range Officer.

Prizes: The Canada Cup. A Challenge Trophy presented by the Canadian National

Railways.

Fifteen DCRA Canada Match Badges will be awarded to the winning team. If at least four teams have signified their intention to compete by 15th May 2018, and do actually compete in the match, the DCRA will present 15 silver medals to the second-place team; if six or more teams so indicate and compete, the DCRA will award 15 bronze medals to the third place team.

The Commonwealth Match (#657)

(Second Saturday)

Open to TR teams of a Captain, Adjutant, Main Coach, twelve shooting members, three Sub-Coaches and three spares.

One team from Canada and one team from each Official Visiting International Team, or DCRA-approved group of such Teams. Subject to availability of space and target markers, additional teams may enter the match to shoot alongside for honours only, for 50% of the regular entry fee.

Distances: 800m and 900m.

Number of Shots: 10 at each distance

Targets: 3 for each team at each distance.

Time Limit: 75 minutes at each distance.

The Captain of the Canadian team shall be appointed by the Council of the DCRA.

Coaching and spotting are allowed only by team members (including spares). Each team must supply three register keepers to the Range Officer.

Prizes: The Empire Trophy, presented by the Canadian Pacific Railway Company.

Twenty-one DCRA Commonwealth Match Badges will be awarded to the winning team. If at least four teams have signified their intention to compete by 15th May 2018, and do actually compete in the match, the DCRA will present 21 silver medals to the second-place team; if six or more teams so indicate and compete, the DCRA will award 21 bronze medals to the third-place team.

The Outlander (#658)

(Second Thursday)

Open to visiting non-Canadian teams, or DCRA approved groups of such teams. Teams to consist of a Captain, Adjutant, Coach, eight shooting members, two Sub-Coaches and two spares. Any number of teams from a country or group may enter subject to range space being available.

Distance: 600y and 900m

Rounds: 15 at each distance

Targets: 2 for each team at each distance

Time Limit: 85 minutes at 600y, 91 minutes at 900m

Prizes: 1st place The Bund der Militär- und Polizeischützen e.V. Trophy,

presented in 1995 by the BdMP for international competition at the DCRA

Annual Matches and 12 Silver Medals.

Each team must supply two register keepers to the Range Officer. On agreement of all Team Captains and the Range Officer, the match may be conducted under the 'Honour System' with each team keeping their own scores and no exchange of register keepers.

The Under 25 International Long Range Team Match (#659)

(Second Saturday)

Team eligibility and composition as for the Under 25 International Short Range Team Match (see below). Each team must supply one register keeper to the Range Officer.

Conditions as for the Commonwealth Match, except for:

Targets: 1 for each team at each distance

Prizes: 8 DCRA Commemorative Badges will be awarded to the winning team. If

four or more teams enter, the DCRA will award 8 silver medals to the

second-place team.

The Under 25 International Short Range Team Match (#660)

(Second Friday)

Open to teams of Captain, Coach, five shooting members and one spare.

All members of the team must be under 25 on 1-September of the year the match is fired.

One team from Canada and one team from any other country or DCRA approved group of countries (Team members must be resident in their Team's country).

The Captain of the Canadian Team shall be appointed by the Council of the DCRA.

All other conditions as for the Canada Match.

Coaching and spotting are allowed only by team members (including spares). Each team must supply one register keeper to the Range Officer.

Prizes:

The Spencer Challenge Trophy. The Charlie Spencer Trophy was dedicated by his family in 1983 in recognition of the help and encouragement Charlie provided to new shooters.

8 DCRA Commemorative Badges will be awarded to the winning team. If four or more teams enter, the DCRA will award 8 silver medals to the second-place team.

Members of the Canadian Teams in the Under-25 Short Range and Long Range Matches will receive a commemorative badge awarded by the DCRA.

RIFLE TEAMS

Canadian Rifle Team to Bisley

The arrangements for the Annual Canadian Rifle Team to Bisley in England are made by the Executive Committee acting on behalf of the Council.

The team will normally consist of a Commandant, an Adjutant, two coaches and eighteen or more TR and F-Class shooting members. The team's size may, however, be altered in any year by the Executive Committee.

The Commandant and three potential Adjutants will be nominated and selected by Council. The Commandant will choose his/her Adjutant from the three names selected by Council. The coaches will be selected by the Commandant under arrangements approved by the Executive Committee.

The shooting members of the team will be selected as follows:

- Primary Selection Process for TR shooters: Invitations to join the Team will be issued immediately after the CFRC to the 35 shooters in the Canadian Target Rifle Championship (#611) (CTRC), with a return date for acceptances, including first deposit, by 15 October. If 18 people (accepted in order of placing in the CTRC) from this 35 accept, the team is then filled.
- 2. **Applications and Nominations from Individuals** may be considered by the Commandant from individuals whether or not they compete in that year's CFRC or if they finish out of the top 35 of the CTRC. All such applications must be sent to the DCRA for the attention of the Commandant not later than 30 September following the CFRC. Such individuals may be:
 - 1. Members of the Canadian National Team Training Group;
 - Nominated by the individual's Provincial Rifle Association of residence; of shooters who have not competed at the CFRC or who finish outside the top 35 of the CTRC
 - 3. Any other individuals wishing to be considered as a member of the Team.
 - 4. All applicants and nominees must agree in writing that they will join the Team if selected.
 - Any nomination/application for any individual who has not shot the CFRC during the previous five years should contain a brief summary of recent shooting history, e.g., performance in PRA events, participation in goodwill teams, etc.
 - 6. Once the replies from the initial invitees (i.e. from the top 35 in the Canadian Target Rifle Championship) have been received, the Commandant has a free hand and may take whatever steps that he/she

may deem to be appropriate to fill out the team from any other applications or nominations.

- 3. The normal number of TR shooting members of the Bisley Team is 18. Team Officers and Coaches, who have been elected or appointed to such positions, may, provided that they qualify under the above criteria, be additional shooting members of the Bisley Team. In a year when the overall team size is increased (e.g. for the Palma Match), all additional members of the team may be regarded as shooting members of the Bisley Team, provided they too qualify under the above criteria. This means that, in any given year, the number of shooting members may be more than 18, but all shooting members must be selected and qualify under the above criteria.
- 4. **F-Class shooters.** The DCRA Executive Committee has approved that F-Class shooters may be made members of the annual Canadian Team to Bisley. Ideally, since the F-Class International Match at the Imperial Meeting is for four shooters, there should be at least four F-Class shooters. However, if there were fewer than this, they would compete as individuals in the F-Class matches. The F-Class shooters will be full members of the Bisley Team, pay the same assessment and have all the same responsibilities and privileges. They will take their share in Team duties, and while not normally being able to shoot in the TR team events, they could do any other sort of duty, such as coaching, plotting, and support. Currently, the Bisley F-Class International Match is on at the same time as the Kolapore, but there may be a small number of TR shooters available to assist the F-Class Team in that match.
 - 1. Primary selection from the F-Class Bisley Aggregate at the F-Class National Championship (FCNC): The number of shooters to be approached immediately after the FCNC will be the top 6. If at least 4 people (accepted in order of placing in the Bisley Agg) from this 6 accept, the team is then filled. Letters would be sent out immediately after the FCNC, with a return date for acceptances, including first deposit, by 15 October.
 - 2. Applications from individuals who have applied for membership in the Canadian Teams for the next F-Class World Championship (FCWC): By notices in the Marksman (see below) and on the DCRA web site, and by the encouragement of the DCRA-appointed Captain of the FCWC Teams, such individuals would be invited to apply for the team whether or not they compete in that year's CFRC or if they finish out of the top 6 of the FCNC. Such applications must be sent to the DCRA for the attention of the Commandant not later than 30 September following the CFRC.
 - 3. <u>Nominations from Provincial Rifle Associations</u> of shooters who have not competed at the CFRC or who finish outside the top 6 of the FCNC: Such nominations, which must include the agreement of the individual to join the

- Team if selected, must be sent to the DCRA for the attention of the Commandant not later than 30 September following the CFRC.
- 4. <u>Applications</u> from any other individuals wishing to be considered as a member of the Team: Such nominations, which must include the agreement of the individual to join the Team if selected, must be sent to the DCRA for the attention of the Commandant not later than 30 September following the CFRC.
- 5. Any nomination/application for any individual who has not shot the CFRC during the previous five years should contain a brief summary of recent shooting history, e.g., performance in PRA events, participation in goodwill teams, etc.
- 6. Once the replies from the initial invitees (i.e. from the top 6 in the FCNC) have been received, the Commandant, with advice from the FCWC Captain and others, may take whatever steps as may be appropriate to fill out the team from other applications or nominations.
- 7. Initially, applications from F/Open and F/TR shooters will be treated equally. However, in the future, some split of these F-Classes may be used in the selection process.
- 5. Every member of the team must:
 - 1. be either
 - 1. a Canadian citizen (whether or not resident in Canada at the time of qualification), or
 - 2. a landed immigrant who has been resident in Canada for at least one year prior to the first Sunday of the meeting at which he/she qualifies for the team.
 - 2. not have shot for or been a member of another country's official rifle team within the 30 months preceding the date of the departure of the team to Bisley.
- 6. Members selected and accepting places on the team must travel under arrangements made by the DCRA and must agree to make a full commitment to the team. Those unable to accept a place on the team due to other commitments, or for any reason, cannot subsequently claim a place or be added to the team. There shall be no addition to the team after it has left Canada except in cases of dire emergency when specific permission may be given to the Commandant by the Executive Vice-President of the DCRA. In making up the team, the Executive Committee reserves, on behalf of the Association, the right to pass over any of the prospective members and to cancel, amend, alter or add to the rules under which previous teams have been sent to Bisley.
- 7. It is to be understood that the sending of the team to England in any year depends upon the policy of the National Rifle Association of Great Britain and that of the DCRA.

The Royal Canadian Army Cadet National Rifle Team to Bisley

The Royal Canadian Army Cadet National Rifle Team to Bisley is selected from the graduates of the Army Cadet FBM2 Course conducted at the Army Cadet National Training Centre Connaught. The DCRATR matches form part of the selection criteria.

Those cadets selected train during the off season to compete at the ISCRM, NRA and School matches at Bisley the following year.

INTERPROVINCIAL TEAM MATCHES

The Counties of Great Britain, States of Australia or the USA and comparable areas of other countries are <u>not</u> permitted to enter Interprovincial Matches. However, providing space is available, they may be allowed to "shoot alongside" in shoulder-to-shoulder events (i.e., for no official awards) subject to payment of the appropriate entry fee. If such a team makes a score that would have won the match, DCRA souvenirs will be awarded to the team members (12 each for teams firing alongside the Provincial and London Merchants).

The Provincial (#668)

(2nd Thursday – shoulder to shoulder)

Open to TR teams of a Captain, coach, four shooting members and one spare, all members of an official Provincial Team, or a group of such Teams approved by the DCRA Executive

Distance: 600y

Rounds: 15

Targets: 1 per team

Time Limit: 80 minutes

Coaching and spotting are allowed only by team members (including spare).

Each team must supply one register keeper to the Range Officer.

Prizes:

The British Rifle Team Challenge Trophy, presented to the Dominion of Canada Rifle Association by members of the British Rifle Team (Palma Trophy Match) in grateful recognition of much hospitable kindness received during their visit to Ottawa, September 1902, and 7 DCRA Badges to the winning team.

The London Merchants (#666)

(Second Thursday – shoulder to shoulder)

Open to TR teams of a Captain, Coach, four shooting members and one spare, all members of an official Provincial team, or group of such Teams approved by the DCRA Executive.

Distance: 900m

Rounds: 15

Targets: 1 per team

Time: 90 minutes

Coaching and spotting are allowed only by team members (including spare).

Each team must supply one register keeper to the Range Officer.

Prizes: The London Merchants Challenge Cup donated by the Merchants of

London in 1871 and **7 DCRA Badges** to the winning team.

CONCURRENT INTERPROVINCIAL TEAM MATCHES

Please note that awards will only be made if there are at least three entries from three different Provinces (or approved groups of Provinces) in these concurrent events. Medals will be distributed after, not at, the Prize Presentations. If the required level of entries is not reached, no awards will be made and entry fees will be refunded.

The All-Comers Aggregate (Team) (#661)

(Provincial Teams Short Range Championship concurrent with the All-Comers Aggregate)

Open to TR teams of four members of an official Provincial Team (or group of such Teams approved by the DCRA Executive). Any number of teams from a province or approved group of provinces may enter.

Prizes: 4 Silver Medals to the winning team

4 Bronze Medals to the 2nd place team (if 8 or more teams enter)

The Coates (#663)

(Provincial Teams Long Range Championship, concurrent with the Gzowski Aggregate)

Open to TR teams of four members of an official Provincial Team or group of such Teams approved by the DCRA Executive. Any number of teams from a province or approved group of provinces may enter.

Prizes: The Coates Cup presented by Messrs. Coates & Son Company, Bankers

of London, England, and 4 **Silver Medals** to the winning team.

4 Bronze Medals to the 2nd place team (if 8 or more teams enter)

The Ladies' Pairs (#665)

(concurrent with the President's)

Open to TR teams of two ladies from one Province. The ladies <u>need not</u> be members of the Province's Official Team. A Province may enter more than one team in this match. Provincial groups are not eligible to enter this match.

Prizes: **2 Silver Medals** to the winning team.

2 Bronze Medals to the 2nd place team (if 8 or more teams enter)

The Macdonald Stewart Aggregate (Team) (#667)

(Provincial Teams Grand Aggregate Championship - concurrent with the Grand Aggregate)

Open to TR teams of <u>EIGHT</u> members of an official Provincial Team, or group of such Teams approved by the DCRA Executive. Any number of teams from a province or approved group of provinces may enter.

Prizes: The Macdonald Brier Challenge Shield. A Challenge Shield presented

by W.C. Macdonald Regd Corp of Montreal, P.Q. in 1920 and 8 DCRA

Badges to the winning team.

8 Bronze Medals to the 2nd place team (if 8 or more teams enter)

The Steinhardt (#669)

(concurrent with the MacDougall)

Open to TR teams of four, including at least two Greenshots, from one Province. Members of the team need <u>not</u> be on their Province's Official Team. A Province may enter more than one team in this match. FBM2 Course Cadets in the Greenshot class are eligible for selection to their Province's Team(s). Provincial Groups are <u>not</u> eligible to enter this match. Entry must be made by the PRA, in consultation with the Officer Commanding the Cadet FBM2 Course.

Prizes: The Steinhardt Trophy, presented in 1949 by the late Hon. Lawrence

Steinhardt, AB, MA, LLD, former United States Ambassador to Canada, for Provincial Tyro Teams at the Annual Prize Meeting of the DCRA and 4

Silver Medals to the winning team.

4 Bronze Medals to the 2nd place team (if 8 or more teams enter).

The Veterans (Team) (#670)

(concurrent with the President's)

Open to teams of four TR shooters, from one Province, each of whom must be aged 60 or over on 1st July of the year of competition. Team members <u>need not</u> be on their Province's Official Team. A Province may enter more than one team in this match. Provincial groups are <u>not</u> eligible to enter this match.

Prizes: 4 Silver Medals to the winning team.

4 Bronze Medals to the 2nd place team (if 8 or more teams enter)

INTER-UNIT / UNIT RIFLE ASSOCIATION / CLUB / CADET TEAM MATCHES

Please note that awards will only be made if there are at least three entries from three different eligible Clubs/Units (or other groups approved by the DCRA) in the concurrent events. Medals will be distributed after, not at, the Prize Presentations. If the required level of entries is not reached, no awards will be made and entry fees will be refunded.

Notes

- 1. See the conditions of particular matches for eligibility of different types of team.
- 2. Teams made up entirely of Cadets or Juniors from a single country may enter for separate prizes in the Gillespie, Gordon Highlanders, Mayor of Bagshot's Vase and Victoria Rifles of Canada concurrent team matches. Teams made up entirely of Canadian Cadets or Juniors may enter for separate prizes in the Aylmer Gard and Imperial Tobacco concurrent team matches. Such teams are not eligible for the trophies associated with these matches. For teams of Cadets or Juniors, the entry fee will be reduced to 50% of that paid by regular teams.
- 3. Non-Cadet teams from outside Canada, representing bona-fide clubs in their home country, may enter the Algonquin and Lansdowne Shoulder-to-Shoulder team matches, and the Gillespie, Gordon Highlanders, Mayor of Bagshot's Vase and Victoria Rifles of Canada concurrent team matches. Clubs from outside Canada must meet DCRA Rules (Chapter 1.01(9)) governing clubs. To avoid possible misunderstandings, a club from outside Canada wishing to enter any of these matches must submit its request in writing to the DCRA Match Director preferably in advance of the Canadian Championships and in any case not later than 1800 hours on the first Thursday of the Canadian Championships for all concurrent matches, and not later than 48 hours prior to the match for the Algonquin and Lansdowne. Teams that seek to enter after these deadlines may be allowed to shoot "alongside" but will not be eligible for any prizes.
- 4. Teams with one or more F-Class shooters, with all team members from a single country, may enter the Gillespie, Gordon Highlanders, Mayor of Bagshot's Vase and Victoria Rifles of Canada concurrent team matches. Silver medals will be awarded to the top F-Class team in each match, provided that three or more F-Class teams enter.

The Algonquin (#671)

(Second Saturday)

Open to teams of four shooting members and a coach (who may also be one of the shooters) from a bona fide Canadian or Overseas Club or four past or present members of a Canadian Unit or Unit Rifle Association. Any number of teams may be entered from the same Club/Unit/Unit Rifle Association.

Club Teams with one or more F-Class members may also shoot alongside, and will shoot on standard TR targets. If two or more such teams enter, 5 DCRA certificates will be awarded to the top scoring team in this category.

Teams of TR shooters from a single country may enter and shoot alongside, if space permits. Provided that at least three such teams enter, the DCRA will award 5 certificates to the first-place team.

Distances: 800m and 900m

Rounds: 10 at each distance

Targets: 1 per team at each distance

Time: 64 minutes at each distance.

Coaching and spotting are allowed only by team members.

Each team must supply one register keeper to the Range Officer. On agreement of all Team Captains and the Range Officer, the match may be conducted under the 'Honour System' with each team keeping their own scores and no exchange of register keepers.

Prizes:

The Sussex Home Guard Trophy, presented in 1993 by the Sussex Home Guard (1944) Rifle Association to commemorate both the 50th Anniversary of the founding of the Association and the long and friendly relationship between the Association, Units of the Canadian Armed Forces stationed in Sussex during the Second World War and the DCRA (the trophy was offered for competition for the first time in 1994), and 5 SHGRA Bronze Medals to the winning TR Club Team. If four or more non-Cadet teams enter, 5 DCRA Bronze Medals will be awarded to the second-place team. The top scorer on any TR Team will be awarded a SHGRA Silver Medal.

5 DCRA Certificates will be awarded to the top team composed entirely of Cadets or Juniors from a single country provided that four or more such

teams enter. If eight or more such teams enter, 5 DCRA Certificates will be awarded to the second-place team.

The Aylmer Gard (#672)

(concurrent with the President's)

Open to TR teams of four members of a bona fide Canadian Club or four past or present members of a Canadian Unit or Unit Rifle Association. Any number of teams may be entered from the same Club/Unit/Unit Rifle Association. Only Canadian Clubs, Units or Unit Rifle Associations may compete in this match.

Prizes:

The Aylmer Gard Cup, presented by the late Major General Lord Aylmer and the late Anson A. Gard, Esq., for Unit Competition, and **4 Silver Medals** to the winning team. If eight or more non-Cadet teams enter, 4 Bronze Medals will be awarded to the second-place team.

The Gillespie (#674)

(concurrent with the All Comers Aggregate)

Open to TR teams of four members of a bona fide Canadian or Overseas Club or four past or present members of a Canadian Unit or Unit Rifle Association. Any number of teams may be entered from the same Club/Unit/Unit Rifle Association.

Prizes:

The Gillespie Cup. A Challenge Cup presented by the late T.G. Gillespie, Esq., formerly Secretary of the Canadian Club, London, England and **4 Silver Medals** to the winning team. If eight or more non-Cadet teams enter, 4 Bronze Medals will be awarded to the second-place team.

The Gordon Highlanders (#675)

(concurrent with the Letson)

Open to TR teams of eight members of a bona fide Canadian or Overseas Club or eight past or present members of a Canadian Unit or Unit Rifle Association. Any number of teams may be entered from the same Club/Unit/Unit Rifle Association.

Prizes:

The Gordon Highlanders Trophy, presented by the 1st Battalion Gordon Highlanders, as a memorial of service with Canadian Troops in the 19th Infantry Brigade and other units during the South African War, 1899-1902 and **8 Silver Medals** to the winning team. If eight or more non-Cadet teams enter, 8 Bronze Medals will be awarded to the second-place team.

"The following conditions accompany the Cup:

- 1. To be shot for annually by teams of not less than eight members. The Trophy is never to become the property of any individual Corps or Unit, but will be held by the Commanding Officer of the Unit to which the winning team belongs.
- 2. The final details of the competition to be arranged annually by the Council of the Dominion of Canada Rifle Association.

Pretoria, 6th February 1902 - J.W. Went, Captain"

The Imperial Tobacco (#676)

(Canadian Club Teams Championship - concurrent with the MS Grand Aggregate)

Open to TR teams of four members of a bona fide Canadian Club or four past or present members of a Canadian Unit or Unit Rifle Association. Any number of teams may be entered from the same Club/Unit/Unit Rifle Association. Only Canadian Clubs, Units or Unit Rifle Associations may compete in this match.

Prizes:

The Imperial Tobacco Trophy, given by the Imperial Tobacco Company, and **4 Silver Medals** to the winning team. If eight or more non-Cadet teams enter, **4 Bronze Medals** will be awarded to the second-place team.

The Lansdowne (#653)

(Second Friday)

Open to teams of four members and a coach (who may also be one of the shooters) from a bona fide Canadian or Overseas Club or four past or present members of a Canadian Unit or Unit Rifle Association. Any number of teams may be entered from the same Club/Unit/Unit Rifle Association.

Club Teams with one or more F-Class members may also shoot alongside, and will shoot on the standard TR targets. If two or more such teams enter, 5 DCRA souvenirs will be awarded to the top scoring team in this category.

Teams of TR shooters from a single country may enter and shoot alongside, if space permits. Provided that at least three such teams enter, the DCRA will award 5 silver medals to the first-place team.

Distances: 300y, 500y and 600y

Rounds: 10 at each distance

Targets: 1 per team at each distance

Time: 60 minutes at each distance

Coaching and spotting are allowed only by team members.

Each team must supply one register keeper to the Range Officer. On agreement of all Team Captains and the Range Officer, the match may be conducted under the Honour System with each team keeping their own scores and no exchange of register keepers.

Prizes:

The Lansdowne Cup. A challenge cup presented by the Marquis of Lansdowne, KG, former Governor General of Canada, and **5 DCRA Certificates** to the winning TR team. If four or more teams enter, **5 DCRA Certificates** will be awarded to the second-place team.

5 DCRA Certificates will be awarded to the top team composed entirely of Cadets or Juniors from a single country if four or more such teams enter. If eight or more such teams enter, 5 DCRA Certificates will be awarded to the second-place team.

The Mayor of Bagshot's Vase (#691)

Open to any number of TR teams of four from any bona fide Club in Canada or elsewhere, or past or present members of a Canadian Unit or Unit Rifle Association, or from the Athelings, or from the RCAC National Rifle Team to Bisley or from the Connaught Cadet Course (FBM2) or the ACF.

Prizes:

1st place team - **The Mayor of Bagshot Trophy,** presented in 1993 by Mr. Simon Pattinson, Commandant of the Athelings, for annual competition at the DCRA Matches. Part of the original trophy was lost and was replaced in 2001 by two silver bowls. The bowls were presented in 1925 by the NRA (GB) to Colonel D.R. Street, Commandant of the Canadian Bisley Team, which won both the Kolapore and the Mackinnon in that year. The bowls were subsequently obtained by Major J.W. Houlden and were donated to the DCRA after his death in 1994 in his memory by his grand-daughter, Ms. Jill Buffie, and **4 Silver Medals** to the winning team. If eight or more non-Cadet teams enter, 4 Bronze Medals will be awarded to the second-place team.

Matches In The Mayor of Bagshot's Vase Team Aggregate			
Match	Code	Rounds	Distances
Alexander of Tunis	(#601)	10	900m
President's	(#637)	10	500y
Gibson	(#618)	20	300m & 600 y
Norman Beckett	(#613)	10	800m

The Victoria Rifles of Canada (#679)

(concurrent with the Gzowski Aggregate)

Open to TR teams of four members of a bona fide Canadian or Overseas Club or four past or present members of a Canadian Unit or Unit Rifle Association. Any number of teams may be entered from the same Club/Unit/Unit Rifle Association.

Prizes:

The Victoria Rifles Cup. A Challenge Cup presented by the Victoria Rifles of Canada and **4 Silver Medals** to the winning team. If eight or more non-Cadet teams enter, 4 Bronze Medals will be awarded to the second-place team.

CADET TEAM MATCHES

The Buell

(Concurrent with the NCFC Grand Aggregate)

A Challenge Trophy, for annual competition between first year cadets of the RCAC participating in the Army Cadet Fullbore Marksman – Phase 1 Course at Connaught.

Open to teams of 8 shooters selected from the Fullbore Marksman 1 Course representing the five Regions. Any number of teams from a Region may be entered.

Prizes:

The Buell Trophy, presented to the DCRA by the Cadet Services of Canada Association in memory of the late Colonel Donald Bowie Buell, DSO, CD, and **10 Silver Medals.** If eight or more teams enter, the second team will be awarded 8 Bronze Medals.

Matches In The Buell Team Aggregate			
Match	Code	Rounds	Distances
Gerry Ouellette		10	300y
Alain Marion		10	500y
Clem Tremblay		10	600y
Pat Vamplew		10	300y
Gil Boa		10	600y

The CANLOAN International Cadet Teams Match

(1st Wednesday)

Open to one team of Canadian Cadets taking part in the FBM2 Course and one team of Army Cadet Force Cadets that participated in training during the year of the competition. Teams will consist of 12 Cadets (Captain, 8 shooters and 3 coaches/spares).

Rifles: Both teams will use the Canadian Cadet Largebore Target Rifle (C12).

Ammunition as issued by DND must be used.

Distance: 500y and 600y

Rounds: 7 at each distance

Time Limit: 45 minutes at each distance

Targets: 3 per team at each distance

Coaching and spotting are allowed only by members of the team.

Each team must supply three register keepers to the Range Officer.

Prizes:

The CANLOAN Trophy, presented to the DCRA by the Government of Great Britain in honour of the Canadian Army Officers who served with British Army units during World War II. These officers were loaned to Britain by the Canadian Army because of a shortage of trained officers in the British Army. The Canadians served with distinction and many were cited for acts of bravery and dedication to duty. **12 Silver Medals** to the winning team.

The Michael Faraday Imperial Cadet Match (#685)

(2nd Thursday)

(Provided teams representing the Imperial Cadets and the Canadian Cadets enter the competition)

Open to teams of sixteen cadet members, (a Captain, 12 shooting members and 3 spares) from the Royal Canadian Army Cadets, the Athelings and any other official Commonwealth Country cadet team taking part in the DCRA Target Rifle Competitions. Only one team from each country may take part.

Distances: 300v, 500v and 600v

Rounds: 7 at each distance

Time Limit: 45 minutes at each distance

Targets: 3 per team at each distance

Coaching and spotting are allowed only by members of the team. Each team must supply three register keepers to the Range Officer.

Prizes:

The Hanson Trophy, presented to the DCRA by the late Surgeon Captain R.J.E. Hanson, OBE, PD, MA (Cantab.) of Fowey, Cornwall, England, in honour of Michael Faraday (1794-1867) and in recognition of the friendly relations between the Home Cadet Contingents and the Cadet Corps of Canada, and **16 DCRA Badges** to the winning team.

The DCRA will award **16 commemorative badges** to the members of the Canadian Team in the Michael Faraday.

The Rex Goddard

(1st Wednesday)

A Challenge Trophy for annual competition between the Canadian Bisley Cadets returning from the UK, and the official visiting UK Cadet contingent. The match is fired in two stages, the first at Bisley in July and the second at Connaught in August.

Open to teams of sixteen (a Captain, 12 shooting members and 3 coaches/spares): one representing the current year's RCAC Bisley Team and the other the Athelings.

Stage 2

Rifles: Both teams will use the Canadian Cadet Largebore Target Rifle (C12).

Ammunition as issued by DND must be used.

Distance: 500y and 600y

Rounds: 7 at each distance

Time Limit: 45 minutes at each distance

Targets: 3 per team at each distance

Coaching and spotting are allowed only by members of the team.

Each team must supply three register keepers to the Range Officer.

Prizes: The Rex Goddard Trophy, presented to the DCRA in 1987 by LCol A.J.

Cafik, Commandant of the RCAC Bisley Teams in 1985-88, in honour of the services given overseas by LCol Rex Goddard of the Council for Cadet Rifle Shooting (CCRS), for all the work he and his dedicated staff have done for the Royal Canadian Army Cadet Bisley Teams visiting the United Kingdom each year. The Challenge Trophy is awarded to the team

with the highest aggregate score in Stages 1 and 2.

16 Silver Medals to the team with the highest score in Stage 2.

The United Empire (#687)

(concurrent with the Macdonald Stewart Grand Aggregate)

Medals provided from a donation from the Sir Guy Carleton (Ottawa) Branch of the United Empire Loyalists in commemoration of the Bicentennial of Ontario in 1984.

Open to teams of two formed by pairing one member of the Athelings, whose name shall be drawn randomly from the list of the current year's team, and one member of the current year's RCAC National Rifle Team to Bisley, taken in order from the previous year's Cadet Bisley Aggregate. The draw will be conducted by the DCRA. The names of the pairs will be posted by the DCRA by 1300 hours 1st Saturday. Scores will be posted each evening.

Note: If the current year's RCAC National Rifle Team does not compete at the CFRC following its return from Bisley, names of Canadian Cadets, drawn at random from those in FBM2 shall be substituted.

Entry Fee: Free

Prizes: 1st place - **The United Empire Trophy**, presented in 1913 by Lieutenant

Colonel W. Hamilton Merrit of St. Catharines, in memory of the United Empire Loyalists who fell in the War of 1812-1814, and **2 Gold Medals**

2nd place - 2 Silver Medals 3rd place - 2 Bronze Medals

MISCELLANEOUS TEAM MATCHES

The Coaches Match (#702)

(1st Tuesday PM- note, not in Macdonald Stewart Grand Agg)

To stimulate the development of coaches and coached team procedures. Open to teams of one non-shooting Coach and two shooters selected by the Coach. Conducted under the Honour System with no exchange of register keepers.

Classes of Team:

TR- "A" one or both shooters are in the Master Class

TR-" B" neither shooter is in the Master Class

Distance: 900m Rounds: 2 sighters (convertible) and 10 per shooter

Time Limit: 30 minutes

Entry Fee: \$30 per team

Teams entering in Class "B" may, on payment of an extra \$15 also compete

for prizes in Class "A"

Prize: To the top TR Team in either "Class A" or "Class B" - The Kirkpatrick

Cup, originally presented by the late Lieutenant Colonel Sir G.A.

Kirkpatrick, PC, KCMG, former President of the DCRA.

Prizes in each Class ("A", "B"):

1st place team - **3 Gold Medals** (if 3 or more teams enter in the class)
2nd place team - 3 Silver Medals (if 6 or more teams enter in the Class)

3rd place team - 3 Bronze Medals (if 12 or more teams enter in the Class)

The Families (#688)

(concurrent with the President's)

Open to teams of two members from a family. A team must be husband and wife, parent and child, grandparent and grandchild, or brothers and/or sisters.

Prizes: 2 Gold Medals to the winning TR team (if three or more TR teams enter).

If six or more TR teams enter, **2 DCRA Silver Medals** will be awarded to the second-place TR team.

The Champion Pairs (#689)

(concurrent with the Macdonald Stewart Grand Aggregate)

Open to pairs of TR shooters. Team members need <u>not</u> be from the same Country, Province or Association, etc.

Prizes:

1st place - The Colin Brown Trophy, presented in 2000 by Major Colin

M. Brown, C.D., U.E., former Executive Vice President of the

D.C.R.A and **2 Gold Medals** (if 3 or more pairs enter)

2nd place - 2 Silver Medals (if 6 or more pairs enter)
3rd place - 2 Bronze Medals (if 12 or more pairs enter)

The Senior – Under 25 Pairs (#690)

(concurrent with the All Comers Aggregate)

Each Under 25 shooter (as of 1st September) entered in a TR Class in the Grand Aggregate will be paired with an older shooter in a TR Class by a random draw. The draw will be conducted by the DCRA Office. The names of overseas competitors will be included in the draw. The list of pairs will be posted by 1300 hours on 1st Saturday. The members of the pair are strongly encouraged to meet with each other, and to assist and support each other during the week's shooting. Scores will be posted each evening.

Entry Fee: Free

Prizes: Plaques for 1st 2nd and 3rd place

ANNEX A

Tie Shoots

Unless otherwise stated in the conditions, a tie for first place in a match or aggregate will be decided by a shoot off, in accordance with DCRA Rules. The times and locations of tie shoots will be posted on the Notice Board. Eligible competitors are responsible for ensuring that they are present for their tie shoot.

Prizes

The results of each event will be recognized by one or more of the following:

- Challenge trophies and special souvenir awards;
- Medallion awards;
- Cash Prizes;
- Team awards.

Prize lists may be lengthened or curtailed by the Executive Committee in accordance with the number of entries. To be eligible for a prize in any match or aggregate, a competitor must return a match ticket for each range that makes up the match or aggregate. Otherwise the competitor will not be placed in that match or aggregate. The sole exceptions are the Aggregate for the 21st Century, the Canadian Target Rifle Championship, and the Cadet Bisley Aggregate (q.v.), where the scores of all eligible competitors will be shown whether or not they fire each range.

Challenge Trophies and Special Souvenir Awards

Under the conditions governing certain competitions, Challenge Trophies and/or other Special Prizes or Souvenirs may be awarded. (See each event for any such conditions).

Medallion Awards

A DCRA Medallion with Ribbon and Bar will be awarded to competitors who are so designated in the prize lists of the following competitions and aggregates:

<u>Matches</u>	<u>Aggregates</u>
The Alexander of Tunis	The All-Comers Aggregate
The Army and Navy Veterans	The Boa Aggregate
	The Cadet Bisley Aggregate
The Colonel John C. Brick	The Cadet/Junior Open Short Range
The Gatineau	Aggregate

The Gibson	The Canadian Cadet TR Championship
The Gooderham	The Canadian Target Rifle Championship
The Hayhurst	The Champlain Aggregate
The Letson	The Connaught Aggregate
The MacDougall	The Gorrie Aggregate
The Norman Beckett	The Gzowski Aggregate
The Ottawa Regiment	The Hampton Aggregate
The Patrons	The Klondike Aggregate
The S.J. Perry	The Macdonald Stewart Grand Aggregate
The Presidents	The Maple Leaf Aggregate
The Street	The Milroy Aggregate
The Tilton	The Short Range Aggregate

Medallions Colours and Bars

Except where specified, first and second place winners will be awarded a "Gold" or "Silver" Medallion respectively. Others who are so designated in the Prize List will receive a "Bronze" Medallion. All medallion winners will also receive a bar with the name of the event and a bar with the year of competition. In the case of First and Second place winners the bars will be "Gold" and "Silver" respectively: other bars will be "Bronze".

However, in individual matches and aggregates where three or more competitors tie, the winner of the tie shoot will be awarded a gold medallion, and all other competitors in the tie shoot will be deemed to be equal second and each will receive a silver medallion.

In such cases the number of <u>OPEN</u> bronze medallions will be reduced appropriately.

In all other cases, the winners of silver and bronze medallions will be determined by Rule 24.03. If tie breaking rules cannot determine the winner, additional medallions will be awarded as necessary.

Multiple Winners

Medallions will NOT be presented at the Prize Giving. A competitor will be entitled to win only one Medallion during the Meeting. This will be of the highest 'colour' achieved. Event bars of the appropriate colour will be packaged up with the Medallion, a year bar and ribbon, and will be mailed to the competitor in the Fall.

Distribution

Those eligible for Medallion awards will be designated in the prize lists. The % of entry refers to those competitors who return a match ticket for <u>each</u> range of the match or

aggregate. Except for the specific competitions and aggregates noted below, TR medallions will be awarded as follows:

Open: First - Gold

Second - Silver

plus a number of bronze medallions equal to 10% of the entry in the Master

Class.

Reserved: A number of Bronze medallions:

for those not in the Master Class, equal to 10% of the entry in the Expert class;

for those not in the Master or Expert Class, equal to 10% of the entry in the Sharpshooter Class;

for those not in the Master, Expert or Sharpshooter Classes, equal to 10% of the entry in the Greenshot Class.

For the <u>All-Comers and Gzowski Aggregates</u>, medallions will be awarded as above except that the percentage of entries in each class will be 15%.

For the <u>Macdonald Stewart Grand Aggregate</u>, medallions will be awarded as above except that the percentage of entries in each class will be 20%.

For the <u>Patron's Match</u>, one gold, one silver, and five bronze medallions will be awarded to TR shooters irrespective of Class.

For the <u>Canadian Target Rifle Championship</u>, one gold, one silver, and 16 bronze medallions will be awarded irrespective of Class.

For the <u>Cadet Bisley Aggregate</u>, one gold, one silver, and 16 bronze medallions will be awarded irrespective of Class. The number of bronze medallions may be adjusted to match the total number of those qualifying for the RCAC Bisley Team.

For the Cadet/Junior Open Short Range Aggregate and the Canadian Cadet TR Championship, one gold, one silver and a number of bronze medallions will be awarded as on the above Reserved List, with the number of medallions being based on 15% of the class entry.

Cash Prizes

Cash prizes are awarded in certain events as shown in their conditions.

Team Awards

In each team match, an individual souvenir will be awarded to each member of the winning team. The numbers of such souvenirs are determined by the team strength, as outlined in the conditions of the match.

HPS Awards

The DCRA will present a special HPS award to any competitor who scores a possible (HPS) in any 10 or 15 round shoot in an individual match during the Canadian Fullbore Rifle Championships. Competitors who score more than one HPS in these shoots may purchase extra awards (one for each possible) from the DCRA at a cost to be posted during the Championships. The HPS is based on gun-score, <u>not</u> including V-bulls.

Please note that a 7-round shoot does <u>not</u> qualify by itself for an HPS award, but that a score of 105 in the Letson does.

ANNEX B

DOMINION OF CANADA RIFLE ASSOCIATION GOVERNING BODIES

PATRONS, LIFE GOVERNORS, COUNCIL & EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE FOR THE TERM 2018-2019

THE FOLLOWING INDIVIDUALS, WHEN APPOINTMENT IS ACCEPTED:

PATRON

Her Excellency the Right Honourable Julie Payette, Governor General of Canada, CC CMM COM CQ CD

VICE PATRONS

The Lieutenant Governors of each Province of Canada
The Prime Minister of Canada
The Premiers of each Province of Canada

HONORARY PRESIDENT / PRÉSIDENT HONORIFIQUE

Minister of National Defence the Honourable Harjit Sajjan, PC, OMM, MSM, CD, MP

And

HONORARY VICE PRESIDENTS / VICE PRÉSIDENTS HONORIFIQUES

Chief of the Defence Staff

Commander of the Royal Canadian Navy

Commander of the Canadian Army

Gen J Vance, CMM, MSC, CD

VAdm MFR Lloyd, CMM, CD

LGen PF Wynnyk, CMM, MSM, CD

Commander of the Royal Canadian Air Force LGen MJ Hood, CD

Commissioner of the Royal Canadian

Mounted Police Commissioner Daniel Dubeau

Commissioner of the Ontario

Provincial Police Commissioner Vincent Hawkes

Directeur de Sûreté du Québec Director General Martin Prud'homme

City of Ottawa Chief of Police Chief Charles Bordeleau President, Army Cadet League of Canada Mr. W. (Bill) Fletcher

LIFE GOVERNORS (in order of seniority)

Major (Ret'd) C. M. Brown, CD

Major General (Ret'd) H.C. Pitts, MC, CD

Major (Ret'd) D.W. Rumbold, CD

Mr. R. A. Pitcairn

General (Ret'd) A.J G.D.de Chastelain, CH, CMM, OC, CD

Mr. A.G. Peden Mr. L. D'Amour

General (Ret'd) J. M. G. Baril, CMM, MSM, CD

Lieutenant Colonel (Ret'd) T. J. Kaulbach, OMM, CD

Lieutenant Colonel (Ret'd) W.J. Molnar, CD

Mr. S.J. Bissonnette

Mr. S.E Frost

Major General (Ret'd) E.S. Fitch, OMM, MSM, CD

Dr. A.J. Tetlow

Mr. K. Westling

Mr. P. Reibin

Major General (Ret'd) T.F. de Faye, C.M.M., C.D., SBStJ

Dr. R. A. Mullin

Mr. J. Dugas

Major (Ret'd) D.M. Letson, CD

DCRA COUNCIL/EXECUTIVE MEMBERS

ACTIVE OFFICERS 2017-2018

President/Chairman of Council BGen Matthew Overton (Ret'd)

Executive Vice-President Des Vamplew
Deputy Chairman of Council Scott Bissett
Comptroller (Interim) Gary Bowman
Executive Director Don Haisell

Chair of Shooting Committee Serge Bissonnette

Chair of Administrative Committee Bill Molnar
Chair of Shooting Support Committee Peter Westlake

PROVINCIALLY APPOINTED VICE-PRESIDENTS

British Columbia Peter Dobell Alberta Frank Lalear Saskatchewan **Brian Worsley** Manitoba Murray Sloane Ontario Adrian Praysner Gale Stewart Quebec Nova Scotia **Andrew Webber New Brunswick** Adam MacDonald Dave Hanson PFI Newfoundland and Labrador Geoff Woodman

PROVINCIALLY DESIGNATED MEMBERS OF COUNCIL

British Columbia Brian Mylleville Andy Tikkanen Alberta Stan Frost Saskatchewan Leo Poulin Manitoba Fazal Mohideen Ontario Nicole Rossignol Quebec **New Brunswick Daniel Chisholm** PEI Bill Anderson Nova Scotia John Marshall

COUNCIL MEMBERS AT LARGE - ELECTED BY THE GENERAL MEMBERSHIP

Justin Hearn

Elected in 2018 with term expiring in 2020

Newfoundland and Labrador

Gary Bowman Don Pitcairn
Adrian Robertson Emma McGinnis
Patrick Champagne Matt Wolf
Pat Vamplew Peter Westlake
Alain Marion Marcel Kolb

Elected in 2017 with term expiring in 2019

Scott Bissett Jason Higgins
Scott McGinnis Barry Price
Dan Lindsay Gerald Bergeron
Steven Spinney Martin Cashin
Dave Adams Jim Paton

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 2018 – 2019

All Life Governors; and Gale Stewart Steven Spinney
Scott McGinnis Gary Bowman Pat Vamplew
Peter Westlake Nicole Rossignol Scott Bissett
Barry Price Alain Marion Daniel Chisholm
Three Additional Members, elected by the Executive Committee
Murray Sloane Martin Cashin Emma McGinnis

Advisors to Executive Committee (non-voting unless otherwise eligible)

Rules Tim Mullin

Technical Mike Wong Shui F-Class Kenny Proulx

Service Conditions William MacKeigan

Black Powder Chris Jones

NOTICE OF MEETINGS

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Executive Committee will meet at 1830 hours on the first Saturday, 18 August at Building 23, Conference Room, to select a Match Committee and attend to such other business as may be laid before it with regards to these Matches.

COUNCIL

In accordance with the provisions of the by-laws of the Association, a meeting of the Council will be held during the period of the competitions. This meeting will be held at 1930 hours on Sunday, 19 August in Building 23, Conference Room.

SEMI-ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

In accordance with the provision of the by-laws, a General Meeting of the Association shall be held at Connaught Ranges during the period of the competitions. This meeting will be at 1830 hours, on Sunday, 19 August in Building 23, Conference Room.

MATCH COMMITTEE

Meetings of the Match Committee will be held as necessary during the competitions, in the DCRA Headquarters Building (45 Shirley Blvd). Special Meetings may be called at any time necessary and will be indicated by a small blue flag on the flagpole. Committee members will be selected at the Executive Committee meeting on Saturday, 18 August. The CFRC Match Committee is established and empowered in accordance with Rule 8.02, Match Committee. Names of Match Committee members will be posted on the Notice Board following their appointment.

GENERAL INFORMATION

LOCATION AND LAYOUT OF CONNAUGHT RANGES

Connaught Ranges is a Canadian Armed Forces establishment located on the western side of Ottawa, near Shirley's Bay on the South bank of the Ottawa River. A map is available at our web site www.dcra.ca. The main access is Malabar Road which runs the length of the Camp from East to West. The area between Malabar Rd. and Shirley Boulevard contains the Camp buildings, accommodations, logistics and administrative areas. The area North of Shirley Boulevard contains the following rifle shooting ranges:

- <u>"A" Range</u> (<u>LCol Desmond T. Burke Range</u>), at the West end of Shirley Boulevard. It contains 40 targets with firing points spaced every 100 <u>yards</u> back to 600 yards;
- <u>"B" Range</u> located between "A" & "C" Ranges, contains 10 target lanes and goes back 900 meters. This range has no firing points or target frames;
- <u>"C" Range</u> (<u>MGen H.F.G. Letson Range</u>), in the centre of the Camp, is the largest and longest range. It contains 76 targets with firing points spaced every 100 <u>metres</u> back to 900 metres;
- "D" Range (Capt T.W. MacDowell, V.C. Range), is to the East of "C" Range, and contains 30 targets with firing points spaced every 100 metres back to 300 metres.

CONNAUGHT RANGE ORDERS

Routine, Range and Fire Orders apply to both military and civilian competitors. All competitors must be familiar with FIRE ORDERS, as posted throughout the Camp.

WARNING - DANGER ZONES

IT IS UNSAFE TO CROSS THE RANGES AT ANY TIME DURING THE HOURS OF SHOOTING, SINCE FIRING MAY BE CONDUCTED SIMULTANEOUSLY FROM SEVERAL DIFFERENT DISTANCES AND FIRING POINTS. WHEN ON THE RANGE BE ON THE LOOKOUT AND AVOID DANGER AREAS.

ENTER AND LEAVE ONLY
AT YOUR
APPROPRIATE BUTT GATE.

MATCH COORDINATORS

- Program Chairman, Daniel Chisholm
- Match Director, Fullbore Target Rifle Championship, Don Haisell
- Match Director, F Class Championship, Scott Bissett
- Match Director, Black Powder Championship, Sandy Post
- · Chief Range Officer, Bill Kedziora
- Target Marker Crew Supervisors, Ben & Tracey Jardine

NOTICE BOARDS

The official Competition Notice Board is located at the DCRA Office, 45 Shirley Blvd. It contains bulletins required to amend the rules or conditions of competitions, notices of shoot-offs, prize presentation ceremonies, entertainment, and details of incoming mail, messages and meetings.

Mail slots are also provided on the porch for Provincial and International Team Captains and DCRA competition staff.

IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF ALL TEAMS AND COMPETITORS TO READ THESE NOTICES AND FOR TEAM CAPTAINS TO CHECK FOR MAIL, AT LEAST TWICE DAILY!

Preliminary results are posted for 24 hours for review and challenge before they are re-posted as final. Any request for corrections must be processed in the first 24 hours.

EQUIPMENT INSPECTION

Canadian Championships

Monitoring of rule compliance for the CFRC will consist of two components: competitor safety verification and random spot checking for compliance during the competition. All competitors are required to complete and sign a certification of safety at the DCRA office during registration; no score cards will be issued without completion of the certificate.

A self-test facility for trigger and rifle weight confirmation will be provided and the location advised on the bulletin board. The range staff will conduct random trigger and rifle weight tests on the range. The Executive Director will maintain an on-call weight test capability throughout the competition. Compliance with other rules will be monitored by DCRA assigned scrutineers and range staff.

Ammunition Inspection

The DCRA will establish a means of checking and testing any competitor's ammunition as deemed necessary. Competitors may be asked to provide three rounds for inspection.

SAFETY

The Chief Range Officer/ Range Safety Officer is appointed by authority of the President of the DCRA. All competitors are reminded that they MUST read the official rules concerning safety on and off the firing point and obey all DCRA rules and CRPTC Range Orders. An aide-memoire card will be provided to each competitor reminding them of their responsibilities. Assistant Range Officers will ensure that each competitor's range card is signed by the shooter and scorer certifying that they have cleared their firearms of any round before they are permitted to leave the firing point.

RIFLE AND AMMUNITION SECURITY

Rifles and ammunition are to be secured in accordance with the requirements of the Canadian Firearms Act. Information on the Act can be obtained at the DCRA headquarters and from the DCRA web site. Under no circumstances is ammunition or a firearm to be left unattended in an insecure state. Ammunition may not be stored in government quarters.

RANGE COORDINATION

In the case of inclement weather, a decision to cancel or postpone a match or matches will be made by the Program Chairman with the advice of the CRO. In the case of an announced postponement, competitors are to keep themselves available on camp until the published time of the last match of the day. Updates will be provided on the official DCRA notice board.

PRIZE PRESENTATIONS

Black Powder: Individual and team awards will be presented at 35 Shirley Blvd. on Saturday, 25 August.

F-Class: The formal presentation of the Trophies and Medals for the Canadian F-Class National Championship will take place in the Air 1 Building in the Cadet area of Connaught at 1830 hrs, on Thursday, 16 August.

CFRC: The formal presentation of the Trophies and Medals of the Canadian Target Rifle Championships will take place in the DCRA Marquee on the 2nd Saturday, 25 August at 1745 hrs. A reception with light food and a cash bar will follow the ceremony.

Winners of both individual and team events are earnestly requested to attend.

We ask that all competitors dress appropriately for the awards ceremony, in a manner befitting a National Championship.

SOCIAL EVENTS

Meet and Greet Reception: The annual Meet and Greet for competitors and their guests will be held Friday, 17 August, beginning at 1930 hours. One ticket is included with entry; limited number of additional tickets may be available at the DCRA counter for \$15 each but availability is not guaranteed.

Annual Dinner: The annual Macdonald Stewart Foundation Dinner will be conducted at the Hotel Fairmont Chateau Laurier on Friday, 24 August with cocktails at 1930 hours and dinner at 2030 hours. Invitations will be issued on behalf of the Macdonald Stewart Foundation by the Executive Director.

GROUP PHOTOGRAPH

Group photographs of the Governor General's finalists will be taken on the DCRA porch prior to the start of competition.

ACCOMMODATIONS

Military hard quarters are available in camp this summer. Single rooms are not generally available. The DCRA will allocate rooms to competitors based on entry form requests. Competitors arriving during working hours should report to DCRA on arrival to obtain their accommodation allocation, lock and combination number from the office staff. After 2300 hours (11PM), individuals are to secure commercial accommodation for the night and report to the DCRA in the morning. Only DCRA supplied combination locks are to be used unless special arrangements are made with the office staff.

Washers and dryers are installed in quarters and in the ablution buildings. Please do not abuse them. There are no facilities in the Camp for shopping or dry cleaning; however, these services are available in Kanata North and Bell's Corners (East from the Camp entrance 1 mile along Carling Avenue, and then South 2 miles on Moodie Drive), or Kanata North (West from the camp entrance, 2 miles along Carling Ave, then North or South on March Road.

CAMPING/ HOTELS

Good hotel and motel accommodation is available at commercial rates within a few miles of the Ranges. Most of these are in Bell's Corners or in Kanata. Several have offered a reduced rate for DCRA guests. Advise them that you are a DCRA guest.

The local civilian campsite is Wesley Clover Parks, reachable at 613-828-6632.

The Connaught Ranges camping ground has been permanently closed. No private camping (RVs, travel trailers, 5th wheels, pop-ups or tents) is permitted at Connaught.

FOOD SERVICE

Three meals a day are available at the camp kitchen but must be purchased ahead of time through the DCRA. There are no cash sales. Alternatively, there are numerous good commercial restaurants in the general area:

- Bells Corners is located east 1 mile on Carling Avenue to Moodie Drive and then south 2 miles. The main thoroughfare is Robertson Road. Chinese and Italian food, fried chicken, steak and pizza are available.
- Kanata North is located west 1 mile on Carling, to March Road. A British style pub, Chinese, Italian, steak, fast food and pizza are on offer.
- Carling Avenue, some 3 to 4 miles east of camp offers a variety of fine dining and fast food outlets.
- The village of Carp, approximately 15 minutes west of camp (follow March Road North) has two British style pubs.
- Soft drinks are available in Camp from several coin operated machines and a canteen and a bar operates each evening in the CRPTC staff Mess.

A list of establishments that support DCRA by advertising in our publications will be posted and we encourage you to patronize them and let them know that you are from DCRA.

ALCOHOL

From CRPTC's Range Standing Orders:

- 1. It is forbidden to bring personal alcohol on CRPTC Property.
- 2. All alcoholic beverages will be purchased from the Mess and consumed ONLY in the Mess and when authorized in the Dining Hall for special functions.

MEDICAL

In case of a medical emergency on the ranges firing will cease and first aid will be administered. 911 is to be called for Paramedic or ambulance service. The problem is to be described and the site described as "Connaught Range." The Range Control Officer and the DCRA Executive Director are to be notified. Range Control will meet the ambulance vehicle at the camp entrance gate and guide it to the accident site. Military competitors may be tended to by military medical staff on site at CRPTC.

HOUSEKEEPING AND CLEANLINESS

In the interests of sanitation, appearance and economy, all users are requested to keep Connaught Ranges as clean and tidy as possible. Pick up after yourself, and place all garbage in the receptacles provided. On departing allocated accommodation, all garbage is to be removed from the room, linen folded and left on the edge of the bed, and the floor swept.

FIRE HAZARDS

Cooking, heating or other uses of open flames, including mosquito coils, are **NOT** permitted in classrooms, tents, marquees, trailers or cubicles. The use of generators or gasoline storage at the RV site is not permitted outside of designated and signed storage areas, equipped with fire-fighting equipment. Ensure that all smokers' materials are thoroughly extinguished after use.

To guard against spontaneous combustion, ensure that cleaning patches and oily rags are placed in a closed metal container.

Due to usual dryness of the grassed tented areas, it is important that you park your vehicle only in the designated locations and that assigned spacing is adhered to.

TELEPHONES & WIFI

Several pay phones are located throughout the Camp. The DCRA office phones are not available for calls. WIFI is available around the DCRA headquarters. The password is available at the office.

TRAFFIC REGULATIONS AND PARKING

The 2018 competitions are being conducted on Delta Range, on both flanks of Charlie Range and on Alpha Range. Vehicular and pedestrian entry and departure must be via the left (for C-L) or right (for C-R) flank service roads to prevent inadvertent straying into the danger area template of other range users. The centre service road will be closed and barricaded to all traffic.

The speed limits on Camp are clearly posted and rigidly enforced. Please stay within these limits, in view of the many pedestrians, narrow roads, marching troops and the dust and noise problems. Parking is permitted only in designated, signed areas; parking on any grassed area, except as marked, is strictly prohibited unless authorized. Only vehicles displaying a valid, DCRA-issued, "Down Range Pass" (supplied with proof of medical need) will be permitted to park on the grass behind the firing points. No vehicles may park ahead of the fences behind the 300m (D), 600 yard (A) or 900 metre (C) firing points. Golf carts are allowed on the range and may be available for rental (contact the DCRA office for information).

The camp is regularly patrolled by the Military Police, who are empowered to issue tickets for traffic or parking infractions. Military Police may make periodic spot checks of vehicles entering or leaving camp.

There are no charges for camp passes or parking, but the right is reserved to refuse entry. DND regulations require all vehicles to be insured before their entry is permitted to the camp.

Pedestrians, when walking along the roadways, are requested to walk on the left side of the road facing oncoming traffic.

SILENT HOURS POLICY

Please be advised that there is a "silent hours" policy between 2300 hours and 0600 hours at Connaught.

PETS

Pets are not permitted on Connaught Range and Primary Training Centre property.

EMERGENCY CONTACT

The DCRA phone number is 613-829-8281. Range Control is 613-991-5740.

AT ALL TIMES, TREAT EVERY RIFLE WITH THE RESPECT DUE A LOADED FIREARM!